Identifying Specialist Practice as part of Practice Development Unit Development

Professor Iain Graham

Dr Steven Keen

November 2004 ISBN: 1-85899-200-1

© Institute of Health and Community Studies

Bournemouth University

Identifying Specialist Practice as part of Practice Development Unit Development

Contents

	Page		
List of Tables	4		
Glossary	4		
Executive Summary	5		
Introduction	8		
Background	9		
Context of change	9		
Literature Search	11		
PDU context	11		
PDU research	13		
CNS research	14		
Research Process	18		
Findings and Discussion	20		
CNS profile	20		
Description of CNS role	20		
CNS relationship with the PDU	27		
CNS relationship with the Trust	32		
Implications	36		
References			
Bibliography	45		
Appendices			
Focus group guide for CNS/PDU project	70		
2. Findings from the first four focus groups	71		

List of Tables

	Page
Table 1. Research process summary	18
Table 2. Summary of CNS role elements from the literature	26

Glossary

CDU: Clinical Development Unit

ENB: English National Board for Nursing, Midwifery &

Health Visiting

NDU: Nursing Development Unit
NMC: Nursing & Midwifery Council
PDU: Practice Development Unit
PQ1: Post-Qualifying Level One
PQ2: Post-Qualifying Level Two

WEHT: Winchester & Eastleigh Hospital Trust

Executive Summary

Introduction

The number of CNSs (clinical nurse specialists) appears to be on the increase, yet there is no national agreement on the capabilities required for such roles. Cogent evidence for their effectiveness is sparse. This is the current context for a group of Trust-wide CNSs seeking accreditation as a PDU (Practice Development Unit) within WEHT (Winchester and Eastleigh Healthcare Trust). This report synthesises data from 11 focus groups held with PDU CNSs; and literature findings relating to the CNS role.

Setting the scene

In-depth literature searching took place in July 2002 and August 2003. PDUs are reported to have developed from an NDU (Nursing Development Unit) model. What research there is focuses on NDUs rather than PDUs or CDUs (Clinical Development Units), and is predominantly qualitative owing to its complex nature. The full potential of these development units is yet to be realised, although there is evidence to suggest that units are successful in improving patient and staff satisfaction and nursing practice. There are no known examples in the literature of 'virtual' PDUs comprised of a Trust-wide group of senior nurses. PDUs must demonstrate their worth if they are to survive. Work by Page et al. (1998) and Cattini and Knowles (1999) demonstrates the importance of the relationship between PDUs and their host organisations. Current understanding about the role of the specialist practitioner and the nature of specialist practice within the UK is in need of clarification. It is expected that the NMC will initiate consultation on specialist roles during 2004. Evidence of CNS effectiveness in the UK is limited, and better quality evaluation is needed.

Research process

To facilitate PDU accreditation 11, two-hour learning sessions, following a co-operative learning style (Kagan, 1992) were arranged with IG between April 2002 and March 2003. The first part of the sessions focused on a subject relevant to PDU development. Appropriate general discussion was audio tape-recorded. The second part of the sessions was an audio tape-recorded focus group that looked at the roles and responsibilities of CNSs (see Appendix 1). Each recording was transcribed and studied at least three times to ensure transcription accuracy and produce detailed charts. The framework of their content was then analysed (Richie & Spencer, 1994). Preliminary analyses were carried out on the first four focus groups, and findings fed back to CNSs in both written (Keen, 2002) and verbal form (18th October 2002 – see Appendix 2).

Findings and discussion

A total of 16 CNSs attended the 11 sessions. Their titles covered wideranging areas. All had spent an average of six years at WEHT. Just under a third held undergraduate degrees. CNS posts had arisen in an organic manner and mainly due to medical consultant need. Consequently, no two posts or CNS career pathways were the same. Nevertheless, CNS descriptions of their work could be categorised into three key (linked) roles – those of care giver, information giver and change initiator. Seven statements give meaning to CNS practice at WEHT: advanced communication skills, changing practice, expert, information giver, leadership, patient advocate and quality care. Qualitative and quantitative studies from the literature review show good levels of congruence with these findings. Political or corporate practice is the missing element from these studies. There is concern over the amount of time CNSs at WEHT spend on administrative tasks.

The CNS relationship with the PDU may be classified into two overarching themes: PDU process and vision for the future. CNSs believed they developed individually and as a group as a result of the PDU submission process. They were much more cohesive and more able to look beyond their service to improve practice. Working as a virtual PDU, that is, not based on a ward or as part of a medical speciality, provided logistical challenges. The importance of unit leaders is highlighted by a number of good quality studies. It is unclear whether members of the PDU understand the causal link between unit leadership and success, and if so, how they will protect and nurture it (Graham, 2003). Three project areas - succession planning, nurse-led clinics and documentation - have been chosen to start the PDU rolling. Main barriers to PDU success were limited budgets, medical consultants and other nurses. CNSs demonstrated limited comprehension that, as a corporate body, a PDU could design business plans to reduce potential barriers.

At present, CNSs do not view themselves as part of the corporate agenda – yet this is their vision. Their relationship with the Trust is characterised by dichotomy and frustration. Agendas do not match and neither do perceptions of value. The literature demonstrates that the most important factor related to an NDUs stability is the relationship with its host organisation. The relationship at WEHT needs attention if the PDU is to continue thriving.

Implications

The main findings of this report are timely. The NMC is about to consult on competencies for specialist practice. The NHS needs to develop a nursing career structure that reflects discrete roles, levels of practice and autonomy based on relevant programmes of preparation (Daly &

Carnwell, 2003). To this end, we advocate a two-stage post-qualifying (PQ) curriculum for CNSs at WEHT: PQ1 and PQ2. PQ1 would be pitched at level H – the academic equivalent of an undergraduate's final year – designed for novice CNSs or those about to become a CNS. PQ2 would be aimed at Masters level for more experienced CNSs wishing to develop their potential and/or move onto more senior and advanced nursing roles.

The syllabus would include a focus on leadership, corporate and political roles, business planning, negotiating agendas and so on (see page 36). This proposed type of professional development is not about clinical practice but political acumen and professional business management. A more central corporate leadership role coupled with a relevant preparation programme will enable CNSs and the PDU to address the fact that their full potential is yet to be realised.

Implicit in the PQ framework and emphasis on political/corporate practice is the need for a stronger relationship and increased understanding between the Nursing Directorate(s) (and others) and CNSs/PDU. How committed is the Trust to empowering this group of nurses to change healthcare practice and services? CNS/PDU potential to do so is immense.

Introduction

The number of clinical nurse specialists (CNSs) appears to be on the increase in response to reductions in junior doctors' hours, recruitment and retention problems, National Service Frameworks, Government targets for health outcomes and patient demand (Daly & Carnwell, 2003). However, there is no national agreement on the competencies or capabilities required for such roles. While the role is often introduced to improve service, evidence for its subsequent effectiveness is sparse. This is the current context for a group of Trust-wide CNSs seeking accreditation as a Practice Development Unit (PDU) within WEHT (Winchester and Eastleigh Healthcare Trust). This report synthesises data from 11 focus groups held with PDU CNSs and literature review findings relating to CNS roles to answer the overarching research question: 'what is the role of the clinical nurse specialist?'

Background

Context of Change

The Trust, just like all NHS providers, is facing major change due to policy development in health care. Change, on a par with the implementation of the NHS in 1948, is facing every NHS and associated organisation. In order to negotiate this change and achieve the quest of NHS reform i.e. patient-centred care and patient choice (Institute of Medicine, 2001; Kendall & Lissauer, 2003), leadership and strategic thinking need to be in place.

That leadership was in the form of the Nurse Director who decided to use the principle of shared governance (Porter O'Grady, 1994) as the motivator for change and improvement. Shared governance provides workers within an organisation with the mechanism to influence policy and strategy. It is a means of giving voice to workers at the coal-face of delivery by providing a structured and systematic process of intraorganisational communication (Maas & Specht, 1994).

The Trust vision is to bring about a decentralised system of governance that encourages autonomy. Organisational commitment to this was to be realised through the adaptation of various activities. They key activity was to be that of education and development. All workers within the Trust would be offered the opportunity to participate in various work-based cooperative learning projects steered by Bournemouth University and the Trust, through the position of a lecturer practitioner and senior lecturer in nursing leadership and health improvement. These individuals, in tandem with other University personnel, would provide various learning opportunities. These opportunities would allow role change and service re-engineering to take place.

Support was given to matron and nurse consultant posts, as well as reviewing the role of ward sister/charge nurse, senior nurse manager and the CNS. What was being sought was a shared responsibility approach by the nurse executive and her colleagues. Change and improvement is everybody's business and the role of the Trust was to set the vision and provide the support in terms of infrastructure and money to bring about change. Practice Development Unit accreditation was seen as a means of achieving change, enhancing job and role satisfaction and ensuring patient care was supported by educational and research initiatives.

The CNS group and the CNS role itself was well recognised within the Trust. However, the Nursing Directorate hoped that the CNS group could establish itself as a more corporate body within the Trust, and that its members would be willing to take on issues of leadership beyond their speciality and current way of working. While it was suggested that they were bringing about change and improvement within their individual services, this was not disseminated to the rest of the Trust, particularly at a corporate level – any changes and/or improvements were mostly unknown and unacknowledged.

The Nursing Directorate was seeking an integrated model of change and development and wanted the CNSs to define their role, not only at an individual level but at a team and corporate level as well. The CNSs themselves were aware that the Trust wanted them to look at their role and critically examine its effectiveness. Therefore, with the support of the Nursing Directorate, they started to look at how they could play a key part in the Trust's vision for the future. Taking the PDU accreditation route was seen as a way of doing this.

Literature Search

The central aim of the literature search was to identify the most cogent research around the role of the clinical nurse specialist. Particular emphasis was placed on UK, Scandinavian, Australian and US-based studies, and those using practice, nurse or clinical development units as their context. Literature searching took place in two stages: between 18th-25th July 2002 (Keen, 2002) and 19th-20th August 2003. The following databases were searched: MEDLINE (1985-2003), British Medical Journal (1994-2003), British Nursing Index (1985-2003), RCN journals, ISI Web of Science (1981-2003), Psychinfo (1984-2003), International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (1980-200), National Research Register, Ingenta (1988-2003), Cochrane and ABI Inform (1986-2003). Hand searching was not necessary as these databases cover major journals such as *Clinical Nurse Specialist, British Journal of Nursing, Journal of Advanced Nursing* and so on.

A combination of different search terms were used within these databases, for example, clinical nurse specialists, nurses in advanced practice, nurse-clinicians, nurse-consultants, nurse-practitioners and advanced practice nurses. Search strategies produced reference lists of manageable length with three exceptions; British Nursing Index, MEDLINE and ISI Web of Science databases produced in excess of 14,000 hits. These results were combined with other key terms such as Australia, review article, practice development unit, autonomy and/or role. Abstracts and titles of all hits were then searched through to acquire the most relevant articles relating to the overarching aim. National Research Register project leaders were followed up by telephone to obtain relevant 'grey' reports. Copies of articles were also (gratefully) gleaned from a CNS's personal library file. Secondary analysis of approximately 300 publications (see references and bibliography) forms the foundation of what follows.

PDU Context

The PDU at WEHT is preparing its submission for accreditation. It must provide information on the unit, the service it provides and reasons for seeking accreditation. The submission must demonstrate clear philosophy and vision, and clear leadership, staff development and partnership structure; alongside showing how a spirit of enquiry and the use of critically appraised evidence will be developed. How the PDU is supported, resourced and integrated into a strategic plan for practice development will also be assessed. Members of the unit have attended a

'Taming the Dinosaur' induction programme covering these and other elements of submission documents (IHCS, 2002b). Although the PDU will be assessed according to the same criteria as other practice and nursing development units (NDU), this PDU differs from nearly all others by the nature of its 'virtual' status. In other words, it has not been established around a base consisting of a number of wards within the same speciality, but is made up of a Trust-wide collection of clinical nurse specialists. The implications of this are explored later in this report.

There is wide agreement in the literature that the PDU concept stems from an NDU pioneered by Pearson at Burford Community Hospital near Oxford (IHCS, 2002a). Within this unit, nurses became responsible for the admission, care and discharge of patients, calling on doctors when necessary (Chin & McNichol, 2000). At base level, NDUs promote excellence in nursing, midwifery and health visiting by being a laboratory and powerhouse for clinical practice development (Christian & Norman, 1998). The NDU model was promoted by the Department of Health and the King's Fund in 1991 with short-term funding (see Gerrish (1999) or Atsalos & Greenwood (2001) for a history of NDUs). The universities of Leeds and Bournemouth recognised a lack of sustainability with the above short-term central funding model, and developed a complementary accreditation scheme (Gerrish, 1999).

The PDU is reported to have developed out of dissatisfaction with the capacity of the NDU to address the multidisciplinary nature of health care (Fatchetta et al., 2001; Page et al., 1998). In other words, practice development is the responsibility of the multidisciplinary team, and therefore does not confine itself to a uni-disciplinary focus (IHCS, 2002a; 2002b; Page et al., 1998). Garbett and McCormack (2002) provide a useful concept analysis of practice development, which is said to have the following attributes: it centres on improving patient care through the transformation of care practice and culture in a collaborative, interprofessional, evolutionary manner, underpinned by the development and active engagement of practitioners drawing on a wide range of approaches (Garbett & McCormack, 2002; Page, 2002).

This is not to say that a PDU model is better than an NDU one; local circumstances dictate choice. What research there is focuses on NDUs rather than PDUs and Clinical Development Units (for CDU research see: Greenwood (2000a; 2000b); Greenwood & Gray (1998); Greenwood & Parsons (2002a; 2002b); Happell & Martin (2002)). Authors tend to focus either on leadership (Atsalos & Greenwood, 2001; Bowles & Bowles, 2000; Christian & Norman, 1998; Flint & Wright, 2001; Graham, 2003; Redfern & Stevens, 1998) or on reporting their own groups (Bates, 2000; Kirkby, 2000; Mischenko, 2002; Wright, 2001).

PDU Research

Although there is no known research describing or assessing the work of a 'virtual' PDU, research by Page et al. (1998) and Gerrish (1999; 2001) appears useful for understanding how a PDU works. Seacroft PDU was established around the base of four wards in a medical and elderly unit with the aim of supporting multidisciplinary practice development and research. Although the membership of the Seacroft unit is distinctly different to that of Winchester, Page et al.'s book provides a detailed account of the process of accreditation, factors affecting teamwork, the philosophy, vision and structural systems of the PDU, and its project and dissemination focus (1998; pp32-3, 50, 54, 213). The latter pages contain a hidden but stern warning: the unit no longer exists. After weathering five years of major NHS reform, ward closures, expansion to include remaining medical specialities, and changes in leadership, changes in structure and priorities of its own Trust and other (undisclosed cultural and organisational) competing priorities forced the PDU to close. The author's note on the final page is that

'...it will be essential for future leaders to adapt the model to their own specific setting, to work hard at harnessing enduring senior management support, and to demonstrate clearly the contribution of the unit to organisational priorities' (Page et al., 1998 p258; also see Redfern & Stevens, 1998).

Gerrish (1999) analysed the work of four purposively chosen NDUs and two PDUs (out of a total population of 46). Both PDUs were complex units (cardiology n=100 and general medicine n=400) within large acute hospitals and primarily comprised nurses and members of the professions allied to medicine. A pluralistic evaluation model was used to evaluate programmes with reference to the objectives, outcomes and overall success of units. Data was collected through individual interviews (n=32) with clinical leaders, steering group members, senior management, and the accreditation staff/team, alongside documentary analysis and focus groups with unit staff (n=6). As with most studies, there was little evidence of impact on patient care. Indeed, consideration could have been given to methods of measuring research-based practice, clinical and client outcomes, impact on policy development, team working and the effectiveness of staff development programmes and dissemination strategies (Gerrish, 1999). Gerrish (2001) concludes in a similar fashion to Turner Shaw and Bosanguet (1993); NDU/PDU efficacy and effectiveness is not fully demonstrated.

Gerrish lists eight ways in which the success of units is given meaning, and nine factors influencing success. Success is described in terms of

achieving optimum practice, providing a client-oriented service, achieving outcomes for practice development, effective team working, enabling practitioners to develop their full potential, a strategic approach to change and autonomous functioning. These criteria are inextricably linked to the criteria for accreditation. Gerrish's approach assumes that accreditation criteria are synonymous with success in terms of patient or client outcome – this may not be the case. As she notes, the conception of success may be so context specific that the findings lack generalisability. However, the fact that these and the following findings reflect the broader literature enhance their validity (Gerrish, 2001).

Factors influencing success are split into factors affecting the team and those external to the team (Gerrish, 1999). Those affecting the team include the clinical leader, staff turnover and staffing levels and organisational factors such as the size of the unit, supporting infrastructure, organisational change and financial and physical resources. Those factors influencing success external to the team include management and medical support, educational links, the steering group and the Trust board. In general, there is a lack of clarity within these factors - for example, management support could conceivably be classed as an organisational factor. This reflects perhaps the rather messy nature of research within this field – one where boundaries are not easily defined.

There are, of course, a number of methodological problems in demonstrating patient benefit and outcome: no agreed standards on what constitutes a unit, determining appropriate outcome measures, the difficulty of matching settings for comparative work, and identifying causal relationships (Gerrish, 2001). Nevertheless, future units must be able to demonstrate their worth if they are to survive. This is the PDU literature's central message.

CNS Research

Current understanding about the role of the specialist practitioner and the nature of specialist practice appears to be in disarray. Titles such as clinical nurse specialist are being adopted in a variety of settings with little consensus on the nature of such roles. This confusion makes it difficult to come to a universally accepted definition of specialist nursing practice, let alone of advanced practice. The main criteria for a specialist in nursing practice appears to be an expert in a defined clinical area of knowledge and practice. CNSs are found primarily in institutional settings, typically in staff positions. However, many and varied organisational arrangements are described in the literature. Regardless

of organisational placement and reporting mechanisms, the CNS usually works from a 'home base' and is available for consultation from other units. Many CNSs have clinical faculty appointments. The common element, however, is the direct and continuous involvement with patients and families with emphasis on a nursing versus a medical model of care. Practice (actual ongoing direct experience with patients and families) provides the content and directs participation in various sub-roles such as clinical research, consultation, teaching, leadership and administration.

Evidence of CNS effectiveness in the UK is limited (for instance, see Bradley & Lindsay, 2003; Forbes et al., 2003; Loveman et al., 2003; Notter, 1995; NRU, 1998). However, those operating in a well-defined role delivering clinical care seem to be effective (Hobbs & Murray, 1999). Garvican et al. (1998) demonstrated that patients were very or mostly satisfied with service from two breast care clinic specialists. Jolly et al. (1999) found no significant differences between intervention and control groups in their primary care follow-up by specialist liaison nurses of patients with angina and myocardial infarctions. Hobbs and Murray (1999) conclude that the clinical and cost-effectiveness of specialist nurses in each role and setting need to be evaluated.

For the amount of literature available on specialist practice roles, clearly defined, and well thought out and conducted research studies examining specialist practice roles are thin on the ground. Better quality evaluation is needed. Studies use peer and post-holder recognition, educational achievement, role effectiveness, personal qualities, professional activities and general clinical status to try to distinguish between specialist practice and other roles. The literature is full of attempts to draw up lists of attributes for specialist nurses. Some of these are reproduced in this report to demonstrate the similarity between them. Chunking an individual's work into, for example, research, education, leadership and clinical practice can also be problematic. There can be problems with what individuals mean by 'research', and where research ends and clinical practice takes over. Role functions such as these are often inextricably linked.

Some commentators believe that this drawing up of lists is a fascinating re-run of attempts to define 'nursing' over the last 50 or so years – and is just as mis-placed. The bottom line is that specialist nursing practice needs to be defined in terms of what it means individually, as a PDU and in a corporate context. This assumes, of course, that Trusts and other employers are prepared to accept liability for changing roles and innovation.

In the US, the CNS needs a second degree – the roles of expert clinician, educator, consultant, researcher, manager and administrator are combined with those of a change agent, collaborator, clinical leader, role model and patient and/or staff advocate (Ormonde-Walshe & Newham, 2001; Redekopp, 1997). Although a role may include these elements, the literature displays a diversity in role description (Redekopp, 1997). Practice and education roles appear the biggest by far (Payne & Baumgartner, 1996). Much of the US literature is either personal opinion, anecdotal, descriptive, self-report or methodologically unsound.

To help in the process of defining specialist practice, there are a number of key pieces of work worth considering. Arguably the most relevant is Cattini and Knowles's (1999) work on the development of core competencies for clinical nurse specialists within an outer London NHS Trust. The UKCC's (2002) report on the higher level of practice pilot gives an up-to-date picture of where nursing is at in its thinking around higher level practice. Finally, the nursing research unit at Birmingham University offers a national perspective of Chief Nurse views on specialist practice (NRU, 1998).

Cattini and Knowles (1999) gathered a group of clinical nurse specialists working in a district hospital to ask: what is the role of the CNS and how does it differ from that of other nurses? The group included specialists in cancer services, pain control, diabetes, accident and emergency, infection control, ophthalmology and stomach care. They carried out a role analysis to identify common areas of practice. Meetings took place every six to eight weeks, spread over two years. The development of generic competencies produced a bond between specialities and provided a network of peer support and clinical supervision. The results of this pragmatic work, although not placed within any research or theoretical framework, have been reproduced by Keen (2002; Appendices 3-7) with the lead author's permission. As the authors note, this generic framework could be used for performance development, succession planning, marketing purposes. enabling professional development, job description evaluation (Cattini & Knowles, 1999), and practice development. The main limitation of this work is that the primary care components of many CNS roles are left out.

As with the Seacroft PDU work described in the *PDU research* section, the Cattini and Knowles paper contains a similar warning. Owing to change in the perceived importance of this project by a new Director of Nursing, this work has recently ceased (Pat Cattini, personal communication, 2002), highlighting the likely importance of organisational and senior management support for any practice development work.

The Higher Level Practice report provides a description of clinical nurse specialists (CNSs) and nurse practitioners (NPs) (UKCC, 2002). CNSs are experts in a particular speciality or client group with post-qualification education in specialist clinical practice, care and programme management, clinical practice development and leadership. The title is not regulated. The difference between nursing practice within a speciality and being a nurse specialist is noted. NPs first worked in primary care for clients with undifferentiated health problems, and later in secondary care with such titles as advanced practitioner or advanced nurse practitioner. The report states that both roles provide some sort of alternative medical role, although there are those who might contest this statement (UKCC, 2002). In 1997 those with a CNS or NP title could take the specialist practitioner qualification if they met certain standards of the time. From November 2003, a new nursing register has been made available (NMC, 2003) and, for the first time, the NMC can prescribe the competencies for specialist and advanced practice nursing, including protection of title for some roles.

A national survey was sent to all chief nurses in the UK, including directors of nursing, in late 1997 with a response rate of 57% (NRU, 1998). Specialist practice was regarded as distinct from advanced in that such practitioners are required to focus on a specific, well-defined area of clinical practice to develop an in-depth knowledge and skill base. Once this has been achieved, the nurse can then undertake designated responsibilities in teaching, research activities, management and act as a resource for others. In the eyes of a chief nurse, specialist practice therefore reflected medical specialities and a strong educational role with regard to staff, patients and carers. It is noted that only 25% of the original sample replied to questions on the difference between specialist and advanced practice. This could indicate that chief nurses are not confident in articulating their views. Greater clarity on the differences between clinical nurse specialists and advanced roles may be provided by the NMC as above.

To end this section, a number of qualitative studies examine the CNS role, for example, Bousfield, 1997; Bamford and Gibson, 1999a; 1999b; 1999c; 2000; Gibson and Bamford, 2001; Ibbotson, 1999; Loftus and McDowell, 2000; McCreaddie, 2001; Martin, 1999. This data will be presented and discussed in the Findings and Discussion section.

Research Process

Table 1. Research process summary

2002

April-July: Four learning sessions.

July: Literature search – first stage.

September: Ethical approval granted.

October: Production of interim report (Keen, 2002) and

verbal feedback of interim findings to PDU.

September-December: Four learning sessions.

2003

January-March: Three learning sessions.

April-July: Data analysis.

August: Literature search – second stage.

October: Production of final report.

To facilitate PDU accreditation, 11, two-hour learning sessions with IG were arranged between April 2002 and March 2003. The first part of the sessions focused on a subject relevant to PDU development, such as nursing theory, practice development, empowerment, education and learning, or dissemination and networking. Appropriate general discussion was audio tape-recorded. The second part of the sessions was an audio tape-recorded focus group that looked in more detail at the roles and responsibilities of clinical nurse specialists (see Appendix 1).

The first two focus groups were conducted by IG; the remainder by SK. Each recording was transcribed and studied at least three times to ensure transcription accuracy and produce detailed charts. The framework of their content was then analysed (Richie & Spencer, 1994). Preliminary analyses were carried out on the first four focus groups and the findings fed back to CNSs in both written (Keen, 2002) and verbal form (18th October 2002 – see Appendix 2). At this stage, seven key questions were asked:

1. Is the WEHT PDU really a PDU or an NDU (nursing development unit) – or both? For instance, to what extent does it have a uni- or multidisciplinary focus? Related to this, how inclusive should the membership of the WEHT PDU be – for example, should it include specialist midwives or health visitors, nurse consultants or (advanced) nurse practitioners?

- 2. How does a PDU demonstrate its worth?
- 3. How does a PDU embed itself within, and ensure a sustainable relationship with, its host organisation and senior management contained therein? Again, related to this, how can PDU alliances be forged with, for example, the Trust board, consultant body, Director of Nursing, universities, and other senior nurses (including CNSs)?
- 4. Given that the WEHT PDU is a 'virtual' unit and not one with overall or direct managerial responsibility for a service, what impact might this have on 'project focus' and the implementation of any project recommendations?
- 5. Given Hobbs and Murray's (1999) assertion that specialist nurses seem to be effective in well-defined roles, how much more and what type of work needs to be completed to define the CNS role (including philosophy), with special reference to a) general nurses; b) other senior nurse roles; and c) succession planning?
- 6. How, and with what methods, can the cited barriers to CNS effectiveness and PDU success (Keen, 2002) be overcome?
- 7. The importance of unit leadership (particularly transformational leadership) and associated structures, and the opportunities of being an agent of change are recognised in the literature. What steps can be taken to nurture leaders and avoid the dangers of overload?

Seven further learning sessions were completed until March 2003. Ethical approval for the study was granted on 4th September 2002. What follows is a combined analysis of all 11 learning sessions, interspersed with relevant literature. Any text using quotation marks (") refers to verbatim quotes from the focus groups or other discussion. Quotations have been rendered into a readable form, for example the 'hmms' or 'umms' are omitted. Care has been taken not to change the emphasis of what was actually said.

Findings and Discussion

CNS Profile

A total of 16 CNSs attended the 11 sessions; all but one was female, with an average session attendance of five (range 2-10; mode 5). Ten CNSs attended at least three meetings – over time, the majority of the discussion was completed by these individuals. Eleven (out of 16) CNSs supplied shortened CV data; of the five that did not, two left WEHT during the course of the research. The CNSs had spent an average of six years at the Trust (range 1-13). Their titles covered wide-ranging areas, for example, gastrology, infection control, palliative care, clinical informatics, community neurological rehabilitation, respiratory care, nutrition, pain management and tissue viability. Aside from numerous ENBs, other levels of qualification are summarised below:

Undergraduate degree: 5
Post-graduate degree: 2
Other post-graduate qualification: 2
Registered for MSc/PhD: 2
NVQ Level 4 management: 2
Diploma: 5
Teaching certificate: 2

Description of CNS Role

Space does not allow for detailed narration of each individual's journey to become a CNS. However, there are a number of points worth noting. Some WEHT posts arose because of consultant not patient need. Consequently, no two posts are the same:

'We're all different; that is what makes it more difficult to define us.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p11)

Some manage nurse-led services and are sessional, and others major on education and teaching, receive direct referrals, or have a Trust-wide remit. A few do not see patients. Each story is different – there has often been no plan to these careers. Indeed, there is still no pathway to become a CNS. By their own admission, they 'fell into it quite by accident'. For many, this has been an (enjoyable) organic process, and one where the individual has 'added something of value to the people they serve'. Nevertheless, CNS descriptions of their work allow loose characterisation into three key but inextricably linked roles – care giver, information giver and change initiator.

This profile and description interested the Nursing Directorate who felt that the unselective development of the CNS had not allowed maximisation of their potential. The Nursing Directorate expressed the view that the focus of the CNS role should be on improving the patient experience. However, it was also felt that the CNS had failed to develop such skills as business planning, research critique or political acumen and was therefore left out of decision-making processes and influence, thereby not achieving focus at a team or corporate level. The Directorate wished to bring them into mainstream leadership activity so that the Trust, and therefore the patients, would benefit more fully.

Care giver

The following sentence sums up the CNS view of a care giver: 'Quality' care given to patients by an 'expert' who considers her/himself an 'outsider'.

'[Expert] patient care means knowing when to stop treatment with lung cancer for example...it might be practical, that is, putting on stoma bags or helping them or family deal psychologically with losses associated with disease...it's about being the expert, rather than the more novice practitioner.'
(Transcript 1, April 2002; p1)

'It means listening to what patients are and are not happy with.' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p4)

An expert worked at a higher level of practice, had a high level of, and confidence in, their clinical expertise, and was an individual whose outside credibility was viewed as 'expert'.

Clearly the work of Benner (1982) has been influential here, as has the more recent Higher Level of Practice (HLP) document (UKCC, 2002). The HLP descriptor is worth reproducing here for comparative purposes. Data provided by WEHT CNSs shows a reasonable level of face validity with what follows, except perhaps in understanding the social, economic and political context of health care.

'Practitioners who are working at a higher level of practice use their knowledge and skills as a basis from which further to develop practice. They understand the implications of the social, economic and political context of health care. Their wisdom, expertise, maturity, experience and critical judgement are demonstrated through a broadening and deepening of their practice and knowledge. Patients, clients and fellow professionals acknowledge their expertise in areas such as

therapeutics, the biological, social and epidemiological sciences, the use and effects of drugs, and their enhanced skills in areas such as empowerment, communication and consultation. Practitioners working at a higher level of practice use complex reasoning, critical thinking, reflection and analysis to inform their health assessments, clinical judgements and decisions.

Practitioners working at a higher level act as leaders for change with individuals, groups and communities. They cross professional and agency boundaries to achieve this. They network locally, regionally, nationally and internationally, and recognise the ethical, legal and professional constraints on practice. They assess and manage risk.

Those working at a higher level of practice have aspects of education, research and management included within their role but the main focus, purpose and impact of their work are individuals (patients and clients) and groups (including carers) or communities. They can identify their own and others' personal development needs and take effective action to address them. Practitioners working at a higher level of practice are likely to have made best use of the wide range of educational and development opportunities available to them, learning not only through formal educational programmes but also from their own practice and from the individuals with whom they work. Such practitioners will have a track record of practice and innovative service development, including taking a lead in the implementation of policy, national frameworks and quality improvement.

Practitioners working at a higher level of practice are engaged in flexible cross-boundary partnership working. They are actively involved in facilitating communication and understanding between individuals, groups, professions and managers. Practitioners working at a higher level of practice have the capacity to bring about change and development within their own and others' practice and within the services in which they work.' (UKCC, 2002: p8)

Quality care meant holistic care, not that any CNS admitted actually giving truly holistic care. It was an ideal they never achieved but kept working towards:

'It's not about you finding out everything, though others might be covering those angles – you professionally assimilate that information to make a decision based on a holistic view of the patient.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p7)

Good care was considered informal and about the relationship between carer and those cared for. It was important to walk empathetically with the patient as a 'partner, not a recipient of care' (Transcript 8, December 2002; general discussion).

From the outside, CNSs believe they are viewed as having a task orientation:

'Yet a lot of what we do is work on quality issues – quality is hard to quantify...management are constantly asking us what we do – it is not always quantifiable. They don't do the same for consultants.' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p7)

The added value of being a CNS compared with say, a medic, was the ability to see the whole person. Differences between the CNS and the generalist nurse included an extended knowledge base, their environment, that is, office rather than ward-based, and the ability to manage workload and time more effectively:

'For example, you can make a conscious decision to spend more time with patients...it is very difficult for ward nurses or even managers to do that.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p10)

Also, they worked in a more autonomous manner:

'Even if you don't know the answer to things, you have the ability to go and find out and follow that through – we have more freedom and resources than registered nurses.' (Transcript 5, September 2002; p3)

Being an outsider meant having a broader role than a registered nurse:

'We are the jam in the sandwich, to hold all the things together (p10)...as an outsider you come in and things looks odd and different, but when you are there all the time you don't necessarily notice everything.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p14)

However, they were not so much of an outsider that colleagues did not talk to them; that is, an outsider but with insider knowledge and relationships.

Information giver

Information giving was about empowering patients:

'Giving them the information so they can make informed choices.' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p1)

'Walking with them is how you empower patients...it's about giving them the confidence.' (Transcript 9, January 2003; p1)

Information giving was also about 'seeking information and ideas to help improve nurses' knowledge or improve patient care or outcome' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p4), and is therefore linked to being an 'expert'.

'Even though I have an extended knowledge base in one part of the human body I am constantly giving that knowledge to others as I can't see every patient in the total area, so it's my responsibility to share knowledge with others, educate others...we would de-skill them if we didn't and just told them what to do.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p11)

Initiator of change

One CNS went so far as to say that the defining characteristic of a CNS was their 'pedigree of change initiation'. Changing practice was linked to the concepts of autonomy and authority. The following quotes give a flavour of the perceived importance of this area.

'I see things from a different perspective. I have more freedom now to see a change/influence, than I would have done. I have a different angle on care given...it's about quality of care.' (Transcript 6, October 2002; p7)

'CNSs have the confidence, knowledge and skills to be able to follow things through as senior nurses...knowing what systems are in place. We marry confidence with sensitivity. The difference between my work as a senior staff nurse is that now I can implement a bit more. I have the know-how, the accessibility, the clout; I know who to talk to and be able to say I want to do it, I will do it.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p8-9)

'You have permission to keep up with developments and initiate change...it's using your skills to enable other nurses to develop theirs, so they can change practice.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p11)

'As part of my role I spend a lot of time changing people's attitudes to patients – that's the hard part – challenging people – you need strength.' (Transcript 3, June; p13-14)

Part of being a change initiator meant CNSs considered themselves 'self-starters', 'pro-active', 'self-directed', 'motivated', 'tenacious', 'manipulators', and in short, 'able to make a difference'.

In summary and based on this sample of 16 CNSs, the seven crucial statements that give meaning to CNS practice at WEHT are:

- Advanced communication skills;
- Changing practice;
- Expert;
- Information giver;
- · Leadership;
- Patient advocate;
- Quality care.

These aspects of practice could be labelled as the bespoke aspects of CNS preparedness. Therefore, any PQ programme of development should focus on these aspects of the CNS role and activity to ensure that CNSs hold creditability, authority and confidence in their post. After all, CNSs should demonstrate competence above and beyond the level of even an experienced registered nurse in named areas. It was felt by the group that these were the areas that defined the role of a WEHT CNS.

O'Hanlon and Gibbon's review of the literature suggests specialist practice has the following attributes:

- · Patient care;
- Clinical practice;
- Practice development;
- Educational research;
- Management;
- Clinical supervision;
- Change agent;
- Staff support role;
- Leadership;
- Family support;
- Care/programme management. (O'Hanlon & Gibbon 1996; p12)

Findings from qualitative studies also show good levels of congruence with the seven statements. Martin (1999) managed a group of CNSs over 16 focus groups to generate a model of CNS service reflecting an acute and community Trust. The expert practitioner is someone who works in complex environments as an effective time manager and has personal qualities that include being supportive, inspiring confidence, being persuasive, accepting, tolerant and questioning (Martin, 1999). McCreaddie (2001) interviewed 20 so-called CNSs. The findings from

this study must be treated with care, however, as the author included at least two nurse practitioners within the sample (p36). CNSs identified their key role as being a communicator-carer. Isolation and lack of line manager support affected their work the most. In general, CNSs struggled to fulfil their research role and undertake research in particular.

Bamford and Gibson (2000; Gibson & Bamford, 2001) also examined the role of a CNS and how it differed from other nurses. Five focus groups were conducted over two NHS Trust settings. Again, their results must be interpreted with caution as both group convenors were new to focus group management. Apart from those in the table below, the key themes were personal qualities, supportive strategies and future role development. Finally, Bousfield (1997) took a phenomenological approach to investigate how a group of seven CNSs experienced their roles. The role elements detailed below appear to be at slight odds with findings from previous work. In her view, a CNS should be enabled to lead, be a change agent, develop knowledge, skills and expertise to a high academic standard, have financial and administrative resources and have the role legitimised by the employing authority – the latter elements were not experienced by many of her sample. The experience of WEHT CNSs is closest to Bousfield's analysis. The CNS role elements from these four pieces of qualitative research are summarised below:

Table 2. Summary of CNS role elements from the literature

Martin, 1999	McCreaddie, 2001	Bamford & Gibson, 2000; Gibson & Bamford, 2001	Bousfield, 1997
 Collaborative care Patient care Education Consultation Networking Organisational development Practice development Information resource 	 Communicator-carer Clinical Teacher and resource Administrator Procedures and protocols Researcher 	ClinicalEducationConsultancyResearchLiaisonAdministration	 Leadership Knowledge Lack of support Isolation Poor time management Conflict Disempowerment Burnout

Chadderton (2000) provides a further strategic 'grey' (unpublished) review on the role of CNSs amidst changes in clinical structures at the University Hospital of Wales: 70 out of 92 CNSs completed a postal questionnaire. Specialists divided their time into expert practitioner, trusted colleague, teacher and researcher. Most specialists spent 50% of

their time providing hands-on patient care. About three-quarters spent half a day a week on research, ten hours on teaching, and about 25% of their time giving advice and support to colleagues. Specialists (68%) spent up to half a day a week on administrating their posts. A similar 64% spent up to a further half a day on secretarial work. This represented a considerable loss of time to patient care. The top three outcomes of the specialist role were viewed as the provision of patient information, education and support; support and education for colleagues; and expert disease and symptom control.

Williams et al. (2001) attempted to compare CNSs with stakeholders' (consultants, nursing colleagues) views of their roles. The main discrepancy was over the extent to which the specialists were involved in management (20% actual versus 11% perceived – clinical practice 41%; education 15%; consultancy 15%; research 9%). Some WEHT CNSs also completed an activity log over a number of months (Transcript 4, July 2002; p9) – the most concerning result was that 25% of their time was spent on administrative activities.

CNS roles tend to work closely with medical specialists and be condition specific, for example breast care, and they practice in an area where a diagnosis or differentiation of the condition has already been made (Roberts-Davis & Read, 2001). Their roles are usually technical and can be updated by continuous professional development; by comparison the advanced nurse practitioner role is process specific, grounded in practice and reflection (Carnwell & Daly, 2003). Attributes, as above, also collude with the American definition; that CNSs are involved in direct care but with responsibility for teaching, providing advice, acting as a change agent and research (NRU, 1998). The one area missing from these lists is political or corporate practice.

CNS Relationship with the PDU

CNS relationship with the PDU may be classified into two overarching themes: PDU process and vision for the future.

PDU process

There was no doubt in the minds of those attending the PDU learning sessions that they had 'developed' both individually and as a group as a result of the PDU submission process. The most frequently mentioned benefit was that:

'We are getting better at looking outside our boxes, realising that others have the same issues...the benefit of the PDU is getting you to look outside your service.' (Transcript 5, September 2002; p1)

Others gained confidence from this 'to think where I am going from here and how I can use my knowledge to impact people' (Transcript 5, September 2002; p1). PDU meetings stopped being feedback oriented:

'We're evolving...and becoming more cohesive.' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p5)

People stopped talking about their 'own bit' (Transcript 9, January 2003; general discussion) realising they had a lot more in common. This process is recognised in the literature (e.g. Kirkby, 2000) and took two years. The good progress made in these two years inspired CNSs to move forward:

'As we can see it has improved things...I feel much more part of a team than a year ago.' (Transcript 5, September 2002; p1)

[Two years ago] we weren't part of PDU thinking then...we sent a pro-forma round of what everyone was doing and got 20 responses; now there's a mass of nurse-led stuff going on, and it's quite grown up – that wouldn't have happened a couple of years ago...our new document 'Innovations For Practice' is very impressive.' (Transcript 10, February 2003; p1)

Towards the end of the learning sessions, some participants thought they were less 'politically naïve'.

While this new found cohesion improved attendance at general PDU meetings, it was not translated into participation at learning sessions. Improved cohesion was limited to a 'hard core' only (Transcript 1, April 2002; p8). Much discussion centred on who to invite as part of the unit and how to get them involved. These difficulties arose because the unit was a 'virtual' PDU, not based on a ward or as part of a medical speciality – a PDU without walls. Getting 'everyone together, practically, to do all this work, is the hardest part' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p2). Other PDUs are afforded the luxury of their own office or resource room (Bates, 2000). At the heart of deciding whether to invite other CNSs, medics, nurse consultants, matrons, ward managers and sisters was the understanding that any sustained impact on or improvement in practice required a multidisciplinary operation. To this end, contact with other PDUs and PDU representation at relevant committees and meetings was also considered crucial.

Before further investigation into PDU systems and structures was completed, baseline work was carried out on theoretical underpinnings

and definitions. Defining themselves, 'who we are and what we do', was 'most important' (Transcript 5, September; p1). CNSs found this a nebulous task, suggesting they had not attempted it before.

'We have to keep our theoretical underpinnings basic and simple...we're coming from our different angles, working with our own clients and areas.' (Transcript 3, June 2002; p1)

One participant wondered what hope they had of defining what a PDU was about when nursing had failed to do this for the last 100 years (Transcript 3, July 2002; p7). The answer lay in grasping that it was not about nursing per se, but the 30 or so PDU members. By the eighth learning session one CNS commented:

"...I have only just got my head round this [the PDU]. It's hard to be confident about something that is nebulous. When you understand more you begin to feel confident about explaining it to other people...you can't be empowered in something you don't understand'.

The same CNS went on to define the PDU as:

'A group of nurses trying to improve practice on a range of levels [from international to bedside] – and to do that there have to be various processes, partnerships and frameworks...it is for patients and is on-going...before, I did not understand how it was going to be relevant.' (Transcript 8, December 2002; general discussion)

This CNS unknowingly articulated Garbett and McCormack's definition of practice development as outlined on page 12.

To address what the PDU was about, CNSs also had to define what they were about individually. For example, what do they bring to nurse endoscopy compared with their medical colleagues? PDU work had been completed on core job descriptions and measurement against the HLP document. Issues of leadership and succession planning came to the fore here when CNSs observed the 'death' of a colleague's work once they left the Trust and were not replaced. This work included professional development planning for individuals and teams, and skills analyses.

Turner Shaw and Bosanquet published their longitudinal evaluation of four King's Fund NDUs in 1993 and assessed the key factors affecting NDU success. Lasting over two a half years, the evaluation included participant observation, over 400 interviews and two batteries of questionnaires. Views of NDU staff and leaders, ward sisters, nurse managers, new post holders and members of other disciplines were obtained. Strangely though, the views of senior management appear absent from this work. The role of NDU leader was crucial to their success but carried with it the risk of overload. Clear personal specification for leadership posts allowed for succession planning. Recognition was given to the time required to develop teams and staff within them. A supportive environment was one with good organisational, library and secretarial support.

The importance of unit leaders is highlighted by a number of other studies that used the clinical leader as a focus (see Bowles & Bowles, 2000; Flint & Wright 2001). The expectation that units would explore and develop the clinical leadership role was examined with the DoH-funded NDUs (Christian & Norman, 1998). Interestingly, 16 of 28 units had more than one leader in three years. Four groups of leaders were distinguishable from interview and questionnaire data: those units with shared leadership and those individuals with a professional advisor, senior management responsibility or unit management role. Predictably, those unit leaders without unit managerial responsibility reported frustration at being unable to bring about change. Again, this brings home the importance of cultivating a corporate relationship with the Trust (Rycroft-Malone et al., 2002).

Furthermore, preliminary findings from a leadership inventory study shows that NDU leaders were more transformational than their matched counterparts (Bowles & Bowles, 2000; Rycroft-Malone et al., 2002). Even transformational leaders need leadership to sustain confidence and motivation (Atsalos & Greenwood, 2001). Australian research within CDUs demonstrates four main stresses to which leaders are vulnerable (Greenwood, 2000a; 2000b): unrealistic self-expectations exacerbated by pressure to achieve; underestimated challenges of the PDU leadership role; promised management support not always forthcoming; and power struggles between nurses, client groups, doctors and managers. It is unclear from the focus group data whether members of the PDU understand the causal link between unit leadership and success, and if so, how they are to protect and nurture it (Graham, 2003).

The long-term vision of a virtual PDU meant breaking work up into smaller pieces, as evidenced by Bates (2000) and Bowles and Gallie (1998):

'It is important to divvy up the work; it is too much work for one individual – we can't have lots of meetings as we can't afford the time...by splitting up into smaller groups with someone taking the lead means that person can feedback to the main group...not everyone can come to the main meetings.'

(Transcript 4, July 2002; p2)

This was one way of helping those on the fringe to participate.

Three topics areas were chosen to start the PDU rolling: succession planning, nurse-led clinics and documentation. A training matrix incorporates all the elements needed to ratify potential projects, including aims, measurement of objectives and dissemination strategy. Details of current and completed projects are placed on the 'Y' drive.

'Project topics are all things we struggle with on our own – suddenly we are able to do it together. There are others who feel the same, but we did not have the opportunity to say what we are going to do about it.' (Transcript 8; general discussion)

By cutting their teeth 'on projects we need to bring things out into the open – there are an awful lot of prejudices and misunderstandings about our [CNS] role. We need to build confidence and good foundations before any open meetings discussing our [CNS] role' (Transcript 11, March 2003; general discussion). This project process would allow the PDU to become more visible as 'CNSs [at present] work in their own compartments' (Transcript 8, December; general discussion).

The PDU has already started work on where its potential barriers are. Aside from the consultant body, limited budgets are the main barriers.

'We have to live with limited budgets, and take opportunities when budgets are passed out...and it works if you can take these opportunities and use resources properly.' (Transcript 9, January 2003; p6)

Ward nurses are also viewed as a barrier to PDU impact:

'Either we can't get the nurses off the wards [e.g. for training] or they are not interested.' (Transcript 10, February 2003; p8)

CNSs appeared to be passive recipients of any blows a barrier might give, and demonstrated limited understanding that, as a corporate animal, a PDU could design business plans to reduce potential obstacles.

Vision for the future

Aside from meaningful desires to be 'more cohesive' and 'self-confident' as a unit with 'increased self-belief', their main vision was to have a 'heightened Trust profile'. In other words, the PDU of the future would be a 'corporate body':

'We're seen as individuals not as a corporate body.' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p1)

'We need to get more business minded.' (Transcript 11, March 2003; general discussion)

The distilled charts of the focus group discussions demonstrate how their sense of corporate destiny becomes more explicit as time goes on. In July 2002, some participants 'had not thought about writing position papers on behalf of CNSs' yet understood this as 'more powerful than doing work in our own areas (p4):

'...I didn't see our role as that corporate...it's a more powerful voice, a more credible force.' (Transcript 4, July 2002; p10)

By December 2002, they had moved to producing 'a strategy, that will be more visible than the PDU submission document to go to Trust board, PCTs, and managers – to advertise our service and what we do, and where we are going, what we've done...the strategy will link in with the Trust strategy...and it will go to the finance people too' (Transcript 8, December 2002; p6-7). CNSs also expressed a desire to include the voice of the patient in the PDU.

Acceptance as a 'corporate body' would imply demonstrable worth to the organisation. In turn, this should attest to the PDUs impact on policy development, team working, staff development programmes, dissemination strategies, and clinical and other client outcomes; those areas from the literature where PDUs need future focus (Gerrish, 2001; Page et al., 1998; Turner Shaw & Bosanguet, 1993).

CNS relationship with the Trust

Given that CNSs view the PDU as a 'team responsibility' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p10) and not a corporate body – 'part of the Trust agenda' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p2) – it is no surprise to find that CNSs characterise their relationship with the Trust in terms of dichotomy. Differing agendas and perceptions of value form the main tenets of this strenuous relationship, with an undercurrent of frustration running through both.

Differing agendas

CNSs understood the Trust agenda as:

'Them wanting us to push people through very quickly...cutting down the waiting lists, reducing length of stay and complications.' (Transcript 3; May 2002; p3)

Targets had to be achieved within the context of tight but constantly changing guidelines; 'targets that aren't related to quality or clinical need' (Transcript 11, March 2003; general discussion). The Trust looked at it 'from a speedier service angle, but forget the huge educational loop...the service is sold on quantity but it is actually a quality service...and number crunchers do not like quality' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p7). CNSs saw themselves working at the quality and clinical need end of the spectrum. The Trust agenda rarely matched what they saw as a 'shop floor agenda' (Transcript 11, March 2003; general discussion).

Frustration was apparent with the lack of joined-up thinking:

'The Trust seems to do things in a very piecemeal fashion.

There is no overall plan or strategy on how to develop services...it's all crisis management...and those teams with the biggest voice or waiting lists win...for example we're getting an extra consultant but we don't have enough nurses or equipment to facilitate the reduction in waiting lists needed – they'll just move people from one waiting list to another.' (Transcript 8, December 2002; p4)

Another CNS described what frustration meant:

'It's like as long as you are meeting the targets you are fine, but if you go to them and say this is about to happen, because it is not happening, it's GO AWAY...it's all reactive.' (Transcript 8, December 2002; p4-5)

This was like saying 'you've got all these qualifications and had all this training, but we don't actually believe you' (Transcript 8, December 2002; p6). Frustration was also felt when nursing was not valued in its own right, either in terms of referrals – 'not being able to refer to my peers for nursing needs' (Transcript 8, December 2002; p5) – or the way medical and nursing targets are perceived. This is perhaps because medicine knows how to ask for resources and nursing does not.

The role of the Trust was to lead improvement and change. The role of groups like the CNS group was to negotiate how that change could be

achieved. The Trust is dependent on groups such as the CNSs for sharing their perspectives and views, but they need to know how to use the systems and processes that already exist in getting these expressed. The CNSs cannot afford to be naïve or to be victims. They hold their destiny in their own hands in terms of how their services will develop.

They need to develop skills of political negotiation, business planning and evaluation; only then will their voices be heard. Shifting the balance of power will provide different systems to enable those voices to be heard. Coming together as a strong, clinically-based group within the Trust and adopting mature and sensible ways of behaving can only benefit patients and their experiences (Hart, 2004, p292).

Value

'Our seniority is paid lip service to (p2)... we're classed as [consultants'] nurses...it's all part of how we feel the outside world of the Trust views us.' (Transcript 1, April 2002; p6)

This insecurity and perceived lack of value was linked to a lack of credibility, for example with regard to desks, computers, offices and administration support. Yet some CNSs, as a result of their involvement with the PDU, had been co-opted onto a number of senior committees:

'This would not necessarily have happened before.' (Transcript 5, September 2002; general discussion)

Some chief officers were 'more receptive to nursing than others [when compared with medicine]...some committees are better than others' (Transcript 2, May 2002; p10).

This perception of value led to some CNSs feeling disempowered:

'On one hand they expect us to be all grown up on one level, e.g. nurse-led clinics, and then they don't actually credit us with asking our opinion on subjects.' (Transcript 11, March 2003; general discussion)

The warnings contained within the work of Cattini and Knowles (1999) and Page et al. (1998) about the importance of a PDU's relationship with its host organisation are stark. These are backed up by NDU research. In 1994, Redfern and Stevens (1998) undertook a further review of the Department of Health-funded NDUs, addressing their values and aims, work organisation, multi-professional working, resources and the effect of the host organisation. Questionnaires and interviews were administered to NDU leaders (n=23, out of a total population of 30). Their findings are

worth repeating to give context to the role of a PDU. The top three aims were to promote needs-led, individualised, partnership-based practice; to promote excellence in practice; and to promote staff support and development. Most endorsed primary nursing as their preferred mode of practice. Multi-professional working was a common feature. Nearly all had links with educational institutions and had the support of their Trust and senior management. Major organisational change coupled with a lack of senior support affected only a minority of NDUs. Thus, the most important factor related to an NDU's stability was the relationship with its host organisation. Given these warnings, and the evidence presented in these sections, it is not difficult to work out that the current relationship between WEHT and the CNS PDU is in need of attention.

It is true that the need for attention is being realised, hence the current support and activity given to the CNS group over the last year. Within the Trust as a whole, things have moved a long way over the last three years. The CNSs must see themselves as part of that overall change and development. The Trust realises that the group has some special development needs and this work is part of the process of addressing that. Reflection on attitude and belief is required by all parties when involved in major change. Only then will new mental models (Senge, 1994, p235) be formed.

Implications

The main findings of this report are timely. The NMC is about to prescribe competencies for specialist practice (NMC, 2003). Bamford and Gibson (2000; Gibson & Bamford, 2001) agree that the specialist role needs structure for its potential to be reached. CNSs need to take the initiative and identify criteria, clinical experience and education for the role – and this is exactly what the PDU, in part, is doing. The challenge facing the NHS today is to capitalise on new nursing roles and develop a coherent approach to career structure that reflects discrete roles, levels of practice and autonomy, based on relevant programmes of preparation (Daly & Carnwell, 2003). To this end, the findings from this study advocate a two-stage post-qualifying curriculum for CNSs at WEHT – PQ1 and PQ2.

Given that about one-third of CNSs at WEHT are qualified to undergraduate level, PQ1 would be pitched at Level 3 – the academic equivalent of an undergraduate's final year. It could be made a pre-requisite for becoming a CNS or for novice CNSs. Once achieved, this professional development would provide currency in both academic and professional credits. PQ2 would be aimed at Masters level for the more experienced CNSs wishing to develop their potential and/or move onto more senior and advanced nursing roles.

Based on this study, the syllabus would include topic areas such as leadership; corporate and political roles; business planning; negotiating agendas; advanced communication skills; succession planning; entrepreneurship; reflexivity and reflective practice; understanding nursing roles; barriers to practice; changing practice; expert practice; health improvement and measurement; staff and patient empowerment; advocacy; and practising functional skills amidst future implications.

This type of professional development is not about clinical practice per se, but political acumen and professional business management. This is their future; indeed, a future that is not recognised in the literature, a future where groups of CNSs will become self-managed along the lines of some community nurses already (Mischenko, 2002). The 'political or corporate practice' element is missing from all lists of CNS attributes studied. CNSs have, thus far, not been asked to fulfil corporate roles, so it is no surprise to find them needing and asking for development in this area. For example, CNSs appear to spend too much time on administration and do not have enough space or facilities, so why have they not made a business plan for more space? Answer: 'in my service there is no medic to say he wants more money' (Transcript 8, December

2002; p4). CNSs have developed under medical control – programme emphases will help them nurture their autonomy, become more visible and come out from the shadow of medical dominance. They require a better development programme, aside from technical skill, to engage their world with that of WEHT. This is even more important as services become increasingly nurse-led.

A more central corporate leadership role, coupled with a relevant preparation programme, will enable CNSs and the PDU to address the fact that CNS and PDU efficacy and effectiveness are not fully demonstrated; their potential is yet to be realised. As a research culture develops through post-qualifying programmes and PDU projects, role confusion will reduce and the ability to attribute patient outcome to the contribution of CNSs should increase. The potential for increases in responsibility and leadership, and improvements in practice and service, are immense.

Implicit in the PQ framework and in the emphasis on political/corporate practice is the need for a stronger relationship and increased understanding between the Nursing Directorate and CNSs/PDU. CNS relationships with ward managers, sisters, matrons, nurse practitioners and consultants are key to the development of practice. The Nursing Directorate may act as a conduit to these relationships. Following on from this, the group of CNSs taking part in this study are a disparate group. Why are some engaged and others not? Can the Trust allow them to ignore an expectation of professional development? More generally, the list of seven questions asked of the PDU during interim feedback still stands (p18).

Finally, how committed is the Trust to empowering this group of nurses to change healthcare services? A learning organisation (Rycroft-Malone et al. 2002) is more conducive to facilitating change because it creates cultures that pay attention to individuals, group processes and organisational systems. To what extent is the Trust a learning organisation? In a recent *British Medical Journal* editorial (Stewart, 2003), Professor Stewart concluded that the NHS must revitalise a research ethos in its organisation to ensure it can deliver optimal care for years to come; we hope the afforded support is 'considerable'.

The Trust is endeavouring to strategically think around the processes of empowerment. For the CNSs to engage in these processes they need to clarify what it is they want and what they want to negotiate for. What is their vision for improved patient services and choice, and how are they going to share this with others? What processes of engagement will they use to participate as a group and as individuals in the change agenda?

The Trust would welcome views and ideas on how the Trust will deal with the following:

- Foundation hospital status;
- Agenda for change;
- Knowledge and skills framework;
- · Choice and access to services;
- Health inequalities;
- GMS contract;
- Consultant contract;
- European work directive;
- Modernising doctors' careers;
- Health service frameworks;
- Evidence-based practice.

Over to you!

References

ATSALOS C & GREENWOOD J (2001) The lived experience of clinical development unit leadership in the Western Sydney, Australia. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 34 (3), 408-416.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999a) The clinical nurse specialist role: criteria for the post, valuing clinical experience and educational preparation. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 21-26.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999b) The clinical nurse specialist role: development strategies that facilitate role evolution. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 143-151.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999c) The clinical nurse specialist: future role development. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 152-155.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (2000) The Clinical Nurse Specialist: perceptions of practicing CNSs of their role and development needs. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 9, 282-292.

BATES G (2000) The challenge of practice development unit accreditation within an elective orthopaedic award. *Journal of Orthopaedic Nursing* 4, 170-174.

BENNER P (1982) From novice to expert. *American Journal of Nursing* 82 (3), 402-407.

BOUSFIELD C (1997) A phenomenological investigation into the role of the clinical nurse specialist. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 245-256.

BOWLES A & BOWLES NB (2000) A comparative study of transformational leadership in nursing development units and conventional clinical settings. *Journal of Nursing Management* 8, 69-76.

BOWLES L & GALLIE G (1998) Developing joint leadership of a practice development unit. *British Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation* 5 (10), 521-524.

BRADLEY P & LINDSAY B (2003) Specialist epilepsy nurses for treating epilepsy (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 3, 2003.

CARNWELL R & DALY WM (2003) Advanced nursing practitioners in primary care settings: an exploration of the developing roles. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 12 (5), 630-642.

CATTINI P & KNOWLES V (1999) Core competencies for clinical nurse specialists: a usable framework. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 8, 505-511.

CHADDERTON H (2000) Strategic review of the role of Clinical Nurse Specialists at the University Hospital of Wales and Llandough Hospital. Cardiff, Cardiff and Vale NHS Trust.

CHIN H & MCNICHOL E (2000) Practice development credential in the United Kingdom. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing* (31st May 2000). Available from http://www.ana.org/ojin/topic12/tpc12.

CHRISTIAN SL & NORMAN IJ (1998) Clinical leadership in the nursing and development units. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 108-116.

DALY WM & CARNWELL R (2003) Nursing roles and levels of practice: a framework for differentiating between elementary, specialist and advanced nursing practice. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 12 (5), 158-167.

FATCHETTA A, DORSMAN J & KITCHING N (2001) Reflections on an NDU. *Primary Health Care* 11 (7), 19-20.

FLINT H & WRIGHT S (2001) Nursing development units: progress and developments. *Nursing Standard* 15 (29), 39-41.

FORBES A, WHILE A, DYSON L, GROCOTT T & GRIFFITHS P (2003) Impact of clinical nurse specialists in multiple sclerosis – synthesis of the evidence. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 42 (5), 442-462.

GARBETT R & MCCORMACK B (2002) Focus: A concept analysis of practice development. *NT Research* 7 (2), 87-100.

GARVICAN L, GRIMSEY E, LITTLEJOHNS P, LOWNDES S & SACKS N (1998) Satisfaction with clinical nurse specialists in a breast care clinic: questionnaire survey. *British Medical Journal* 316, 976-977.

GERRISH K (1999) Practice development: criteria for success. An evaluation of the practice development programme offered by the Centre for the Development of Nursing Policy and Practice at the University of Leeds. Sheffield: University of Sheffield.

GERRISH K (2001) A pluralistic evaluation of nursing/practice development units. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 109-118.

GIBSON F & BAMFORD O (2001) Focus group interviews to examine the role and development of the clinical nurse specialist. *Journal of Nursing Management* 9, 331-342.

GRAHAM I (2003) Leading the development of nursing within a nursing development unit: the perspectives of leadership by the team leader and a professor of nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 9 (4), 213-222.

GREENWOOD J (2000a) Clinical development units (Nursing): Issues surrounding their establishment and survival. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 6, 338-344.

GREENWOOD J (2000b) Critique of the graduate nurse: an international perspective. *Nurse Education Today* 20, 17-23.

GREENWOOD J & GRAY G (1998) Developing a nursing research culture in the university and health sectors in Western Sydney, Australia. *Nurse Education Today* 18, 642-648.

GREENWOOD J & PARSONS M (2002a) The evaluation of a clinical development unit leadership preparation program by focus group interviews – Part 1: positive aspects. *Nurse Education Today* 22 (7), 527-533.

GREENWOOD J & PARSONS M (2002b) The evaluation of a clinical development unit leadership preparation program by focus group interviews – Part 2: negative aspects. *Nurse Education Today* 22 (7), 534-541.

HAPPELL B & MARTIN T (2002) Changing the mental health nursing culture: the nursing clinical development unit approach. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 11, 54-60.

HART C (2004) Nurses and Politics. The impact of power and practice. Palgrave Macmillan.

HOBBS R & MURRAY ET (1999) Specialist liaison nurses: evidence for their effectiveness is limited. *British Medical Journal* 318, 683-684.

IBBOTSON K (1999) The role of the clinical nurse specialist: a study. *Nursing Standard* 14 (9), 35-38.

IHCS (Institute of Health and Community Studies) (2002a) *Practice Development Unit Accreditation Framework*. Bournemouth: Bournemouth University.

IHCS (2002b) Taming the Dinosaur: How to get your Practice Development Unit up and running. Bournemouth: Bournemouth University.

INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE (2001) Crossing the quality chasm. A new health system for the 21st century. National Academy Press, Washington.

JOLLY K, BRADLEY F, SHARP S, SMITH H, THOMPSON S, KINMONTH A-L & MANT D for the SHIP Collaborative Group (1999) Randomised controlled trial of follow up care in general practice of patients with myocardial infarction and angina: results of the Southampton heart integrated care project (SHIP). *British Medical Journal* 318, 706-711.

KAGAN S (1992) Cooperative Learning. Resources for Teachers, San Juan Capistrano, CA.

KENDALL L & LISSAUER R (2003) The future health worker. IPPR, London.

KEEN S (2002) Pulling shadows into sunshine: identifying specialist practice nursing practice as a part of PDU development. Bournemouth: IHCS, Bournemouth University.

KIRKBY J (2000) Assessed for success. Nursing Times 96 (28), 42.

LOFTUS LA & MCDOWELL J (2000) The lived experience of the oncology clinical nurse specialist. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 37, 513-521.

LOVEMAN E, ROYLE P & WAUGH N (2003) Specialist nurses in diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library* 3.

MAAS ML & SPECHT JP (1994) Shared Governance in Nursing. What is shared, who shares and who benefits? In: McCloskey J & Grace HK (Eds). *Current Issues in Nursing*. Mosby Pub, Chapter 55.

MARTIN PJ (1999) An exploration of the services provided by the clinical nurse specialist in one NHS Trust. *Journal of Nursing Management* 7, 149-156.

MCCREADDIE M (2001) The role of the clinical nurse specialist. *Nursing Standard* 16 (10), 33-38.

MISCHENKO J (2002) Theoretical underpinnings of empowerment: A framework for self-managed teams. *Community Practitioner* 75 (6), 218-222.

NMC (Nursing and Midwifery Council) (2003) NMC confirms details of new three-part register. Available from http://www.nmc-uk.org/nmc/main/pressStatements (7 March 2003).

NOTTER J (1995) Marketing specialist practice to managers and purchasers. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (22), 1330-1334.

NRU (Nursing Research Unit) (1998) A survey of specialist and advanced nursing practice in the United Kingdom. Birmingham: University of Central England.

ORMONDE-WALSHE SE & NEWHAM RA (2001) Comparing and contrasting the clinical nurse specialist and the advanced nurse practitioner roles. *Journal of Nursing Management* 9, 205-207.

O'HANLON M & GIBBON S (1996) Advanced practice. *Nursing Management* 2 (10), 12-13.

PAGE S (2002) The role of practice development in modernising the NHS. *Nursing Times* 98 (11), 34-36.

PAGE S, ALLSOPP D & CASLEY S (1998) (eds) *The Practice Development Unit. An experiment in multidisciplinary innovation.* London: Whurr.

PAYNE JL & BAUMGARTNER RG (1996) CNS role evolution. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 10 (1), 46-48.

PORTER O'GRADY T (1994) Whole systems shared governance: creating the seamless organisation. *Nursing Economics* 12 (4), 187-195.

REDEKOPP MA (1997) Clinical nurse specialists role confusion: the need for identity. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 11 (2), 87-90.

REDFERN S & STEVENS W (1998) Nursing development units: their structure and orientation. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 218-226.

RICHIE J & SPENCER L (1994) Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In A.Bryman & R.G.Burgess (Eds) *Analysing Qualitative Data*. London: Routledge.

ROBERTS-DAVIS M & READ S (2001) Clinical role clarification: using the Delphi method to establish similarities and differences between Nurse Practitioners and Clinical Nurse Specialists. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 33-43.

RYCROFT-MALONE J, HARVEY G, KITSON A, MCCORMACK B & TITCHEN A (2002) Getting evidence into practice: ingredients for change. *Nursing Standard* 16 (37), 38-43.

SENGE P (1994) The fifth discipline. The art and practices of the learning organisation. Doubleday Pub.

STEWART PM (2003) Improving clinical research (editorial). *British Medical Journal* 327, 999-1000.

TURNER-SHAW J & BOSANQUET N (1993) Nursing Development Units. A way to develop nurses and nursing. London: King's Fund.

UKCC (United Kingdom Central Council for Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting) (2002) Report of the higher level of practice pilot and project. London: UKCC. Available from http://www.nmc-uk.org/cms/content/publications/

WILLIAMS A, MCGEE P & BATES L (2001) An examination of senior nursing roles: challenges for the NHS. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 195-203.

WRIGHT SM (2001) Contribution of a lecturer practitioner in implementing evidence-based health-care. *Accident & Emergency Nursing* 9, 198-203.

Bibliography

ADAMS A, PELLETIER D, DUFFIELD C, NAGY S, CRISP J, MITTEN-LEWIS S & MURPHY J (1997) Determining and discerning expert practice: A review of literature. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 11 (5), 217-222.

ALCOCK DS (1996) The clinical nurse specialist, clinical nurse specialist/nurse practitioner and other titled nurse in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Administration* 9 (1), 23-44.

ALDERMAN C (2000) Team spirit. Nursing Standard 14 (47), 17-18.

ANDREWS J, HANSON C, MAULE S & SNELLING M (1999) Attaining role confirmation in nurse practitioner practice. *Clinical Excellence for Nurse Practitioners* 3 (5), 302-310.

APPEL AL & MALCOLM P (1999) The struggle for recognition: the nurse practitioner in New South Wales, Australia. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 13 (5), 236-241.

APPEL AL, MALCOLM PA & NAHAS V (1996) Nursing specialisation in New South Wales, Australia. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 10 (2), 76-81.

ASHBURNER L, BIRCH K, LATIMER J & SCRIVENS E (1997) *Nurse Practitioners in Primary Care: the extent of research and practice.* Keele: Centre for Health Planning and Management.

ASHWORTH P (2000) Nurse consultant - a role whose time has come. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing* 16, 61-62.

ASTON L, MALLIK M, DAY C & FRASER D (2000) An exploration into the role of the teacher/lecturer in practice: findings from a case study in adult nursing. *Nurse Education Today* 20 (3), 178-188.

ASUBONTENG P, MCCLEARY KJ & MUNCHUS G (1995) Nurse practitioners in the USA – their past, present and future: some implications for the health care management delivery system. *Health Manpower Management* 21(3), 3-10.

ATKIN K & LUNT N (1996) negotiating the role of the practice nurse in general practice. *Journal of Advanced Practice* 24, 498-505.

ATKINS S & ERSSER SJ (2000) Education for advanced nursing practice: an evolving framework. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 37, 523-533.

ATSALOS C & GREENWOOD J (2001) The lived experience of clinical development unit leadership in the Western Sydney, Australia. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 34 (3), 408-416.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999) The clinical nurse specialist role: criteria for the post, valuing clinical experience and educational preparation. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 21-26.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999) The clinical nurse specialist role: development strategies that facilitate role evolution. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 143-151.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (1999) The clinical nurse specialist: future role development. *Advancing Clinical Nursing* 3, 152-155.

BAMFORD O & GIBSON F (2000) The Clinical Nurse Specialist: perceptions of practicing CNSs of their role and development needs. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 9, 282-292.

BARTON TD, THORNE R & HOPTROFF M (1999) The nurse practitioner: redefining occupational boundaries? *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 36, 57-63.

BATES G (2000) The challenge of practice development unit accreditation within an elective orthopaedic award. *Journal of Orthopaedic Nursing* 4, 170-174.

BELL M & PROCTOR S (1998) Developing nurse practitioners to develop practice: the experiences of nurses working on a Nursing Development Unit. *Journal of Nursing Management* 6, 61-69.

BELMAN LM (1996) Changing nursing practice through reflection on the Roper, Logan and Tierney model: the enhancement approach to action research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 24, 129-138.

BENNER P (1982) From novice to expert. *American Journal of Nursing* 82 (3), 402-407.

BERGER AM, EILERS JG, PATTRIN L, ROLF-FIXLEY M, PFEIFER BA, ROGGE JA, WHEELER LM, BERGSTROM NI & HECK CS (1996) Advanced practice roles for nurses in tomorrow's health-care systems. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 10 (5), 250-255.

BERRAGAN L (1998) Consultancy in nursing: roles and opportunities. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 139-143.

BOUSFIELD C (1997) A phenomenological investigation into the role of the clinical nurse specialist. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 245-256.

BOWLES A & BOWLES NB (2000) A comparative study of transformational leadership in nursing development units and conventional clinical settings. *Journal of Nursing Management* 8, 69-76.

BOWLES L & GALLIE G (1998) Developing joint leadership of a practice development unit. *British Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation* 5 (10), 521-524.

BOWMAN GS (1986) Nurse specialisation – an alternative route? *Nursing Practice* 1, 229-235.

BRADLEY P & LINDSAY B (2003) Specialist epilepsy nurses for treating epilepsy (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 3, 2003.

BROWN SA & GRIMES DE (1995) A meta analysis of nurse practitioners and nurse midwives in primary care. *Nursing Research* 44 (6), 332-339.

BROWN SJ (1998) A framework for advanced practice nursing. *Journal of Professional Nursing* 14 (3), 157-164.

BRUSH BL & CAPEZUTI EA (1997) Professional autonomy: essential for nurse practitioner survival in the 21st century. *Journal of the American Academic Nurse Practitioner* 9 (6), 265-270.

BRYNE P (2002) Making the first (physio) consultant post work. *Frontline* April 3, 22-3.

BUCHAN J (1999) The 'greying' of the United Kingdom nursing workforce: implications for employment policy and practice. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 30 (4), 818-826.

BYRNE MW & KEEFE MR (2002) Building research competence in nursing through mentoring. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 34 (4), 391-396.

CAHILL H (1996) Role definition: nurse practitioners or clinical assistants? *British Journal of Nursing* 5 (22), 1382-1386.

CAMIAH S (1997) Utilization of nursing research in practice and application strategies to raise research awareness amongst nurse practitioners: a model for success. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 26, 1193-1202.

CAMSOOKSAI J (2002) The role of the Lecturer Practitioner in interprofessional education. *Nurse Education Today* 22 (6) 466-475.

CARNWELL R & DALY WM (2003) Advanced nursing practitioners in primary care settings: an exploration of the developing roles. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 12 (5), 630-642.

CARR J (1999) Nurse practitioner. Practice Nursing 11 (1), 19-21.

CARR J, ARMSTRONG S, HANCOCK B & BETHEA J (2002) GPs' perceptions of the nurse practitioner role in primary care. *British Journal of Community Nursing* 7 (8), 408-413.

CARR J, BETHEA J & HANCOCK B (2001) The attitudes of GPs towards the nurse practitioner role. *British Journal of Community Nursing* 6 (9), 444-451.

CARROLL M (2002) Advanced nursing practice. *Nursing Standard* 16 (29), 33-35.

CASTLEDINE G (1995) Defining specialist nursing (editorial). *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (3), 264-265.

CASTLEDINE G (1996a) Clarifying and defining nursing role developments. *British Journal of Nursing* 5 (21), 1338.

CASTLEDINE G (1996b) The role and criteria of an advanced nurse practitioner. *British Journal of Nursing* 5 (5), 288-289.

CASTLEDINE G & McGee P (1998) (eds) Advanced and Specialist Nursing Practice. Cambridge: Blackwell.

CATTINI P & KNOWLES V (1999) Core competencies for clinical nurse specialists: a usable framework. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 8, 505-511.

CHADDERTON H (2000) Strategic review of the role of Clinical Nurse Specialists at the University Hospital of Wales and Llandough Hospital. Cardiff, Cardiff and Vale NHS Trust.

CHALMERS H & BOND S (1997) *Educational requirements for new nursing roles*. Newcastle: University of Northumbria at Newcastle.

CHANG E, DALY J, HAWKINS A, MCGIRR J, FIELDING K, HEMMINGS L, O'DONOGHUE A & DENNIS M (1999) An evaluation of the nurse practitioner role in a major rural emergency department. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 30 (1), 260-268.

CHANG KPK & WONG KSTW (2001) The nurse specialist role in Hong Kong: perceptions of nurse specialists, doctors and staff nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 36 (1), 32-40.

CHIARELLA M (1998) Independent, autonomous, or equal: what do we really want? *Clinical Excellence for Nurse Practitioners* 2 (5), 293-299.

CHIN H & MCNICHOL E (2000) Practice development credential in the United Kingdom. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing* (31st May 2000). Available from http://www.ana.org/ojin/topic12/tpc12.

CHRISTIAN SL & NORMAN IJ (1998) Clinical leadership in the nursing and development units. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 108-116.

CHUK PKC (1997) Clinical nurse specialists and quality patient care. Journal of Advanced Nursing 26, 501-506.

CLIFFORD C (1994) Developing a research and development strategy. Senior Nurse 13 (7), 7-10.

COOPER MA, LINDSAY GM, KINN S & SWANN IJ (2002) Evaluating emergency nurse practitioner services: A randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 40 (6), 721-730.

CORNWELL C & CHIVERTON P (1997) The psychiatric Advanced practice nurse with prescriptive authority: role development, practice issues, and outcomes measurement. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing* 11 (2), 57-65.

COX CL (2000) The nurse consultant: an advanced nurse practitioner? *Nursing Times* 96 (13), 48.

CUKR PL, JONES SL, WILBERGER ME, SMITH R & STOPPER C (1998) The psychiatric clinical nurse specialist/nurse practitioner: an example of the combined role. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing* 12 (6), 311-318.

CUTTS B (1999) Autonomy and the developing role of the clinical nurse specialist. *British Journal of Nursing* 8 (22), 1500-1506.

DALY WM & CARNWELL R (2003) Nursing roles and levels of practice: a framework for differentiating between elementary, specialist and advanced nursing practice. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 12 (5), 158-167.

DAWSON J (2001) The neonatal clinical nurse consultant role: a profile based on measurement of components of practice. *Journal of Neonatal Nursing* 7 (5), 154-158.

DAWSON JA & BENSON S (1997) Clinical nurse consultants: defining the role. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 11 (6), 250-254.

DEANE KA (1997) CNS and NP: should the roles be merged? *Canadian Nurse* 93 (6), 24-30.

DEARMUN AK (2000) Supporting newly qualified staff nurses: the Lecturer Practitioner contribution. *Journal of Nursing Management* 8, 159-165.

DILLON A & GEORGE S (1997) Advanced neonatal nurse practitioners in the United Kingdom: where are they and what do they do? *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 257-264.

DONLEY R (2000) Advancing and the practice of Nursing: challenges and opportunities for nurses in the 21st century. *Policy, Politics, and Nursing Practice* 1 (2), 133-138.

DONNELLY G (2003) Clinical expertise in advanced practice nursing: a Canadian perspective. *Nurse Education Today* 23 (3), 168-173.

DOWLING M (2000) Nurses' perceptions of the clinical nurse specialist (CNS) role. *Nursing Review* 17 (4), 96-99.

DOWNING P, STUART K & MCCARRON J (2000) Advanced Nursing practice in Kentucky. *Emergency Nurse* 8 (1), 12-14.

DOWSWELL T, WILKIN D & BANKS-SMITH J (2002) Nurses and English primary care groups: their experiences and perceived influence on policy development. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 37 (1), 35-42.

DRIVER J & CAMPBELL J (2000) An evaluation of the impact of lecturer practitioners on learning. *British Journal of Nursing* 9 (5), 292-300.

DROOGAN J & CULLUM N (1998) Systematic reviews in nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 35, 13-22.

DUFFIELD C, PELLETIER D & DONOGHUE J (1995) The profile of the clinical nurse specialist in one Australian state. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 9 (3), 149-154.

DUNN L (1997) A literature review of advanced clinical nursing practice in the United States of America. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 814-819.

DUNN L & MORGAN E (1998) Creating a framework for clinical nursing practice to advance in the West Midlands region. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 239-243.

DUNN SV, LAWSON D, ROBERTSON S, UNDERWOOD M, CLARK R, VALENTINE T, WALKER N, WILSON-ROW C, CROWDER & HEREWANE D (2000) The development of competency standards for specialist critical care nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 31 (2), 339-346.

ELCOCK K (1998) Lecturer practitioner: a concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 28 (5), 1092-1098.

ELLIOTT PA (1995) The development of advanced nursing practice: 1. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (11), 633-636.

FAIRBROTHER P & FORD S (1998) Lecturer practitioners: a literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 274-279.

FATCHETTA A, DORSMAN J & KITCHING N (2001) Reflections on an NDU. *Primary Health Care* 11 (7), 19-20.

FINLAYSON B, DIXON J, MEADOWS S & BLAIR G (2002) Mind the gap: the extent of the NHS nursing shortage. *British Medical Journal* 325, 538-541.

FINLAYSON B, DIXON J, MEADOWS S & BLAIR G (2002) Mind the gap: the policy response to the NHS nursing shortage. *British Medical Journal* 325, 541-544.

FLINT H & WRIGHT S (2001) Nursing development units: progress and developments. *Nursing Standard* 15 (29), 39-41.

FOLLAND S (2000) Redefining the role of the clinical nurse specialist. *European Journal of Palliative Care* 7 (5), 172-174.

FORBES A, WHILE A, DYSON L, GROCOTT T & GRIFFITHS P (2003) Impact of clinical nurse specialists in multiple sclerosis – synthesis of the evidence. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 42 (5), 442-462.

FRENCH J, BILTON D & CAMPBELL F (2003) Nurse specialist care for bronchiectasis (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library* 3.

GARBETT R & MCCORMACK B (2002) Focus: A concept analysis of practice development. *NT Research* 7 (2), 87-100.

GARVICAN L, GRIMSEY E, LITTLEJOHNS P, LOWNDES S & SACKS N (1998) Satisfaction with clinical nurse specialists in a breast care clinic: questionnaire survey. *British Medical Journal* 316, 976-977.

GENET CA, BRENNAN PF, IBBOTSON-WOLFF S, PHELPS C, ROSENTHAL G, LANDEFELD CS & DALY B (1995) Nurse practitioners in a teaching hospital. *Nurse Practitioner* 20 (9), 47-54.

GERRISH K (1999) Practice development: criteria for success. An evaluation of the practice development programme offered by the Centre for the Development of Nursing Policy and Practice at the University of Leeds. Sheffield: University of Sheffield.

GERRISH K (2000) Nursing development units: factors influencing their progress. *British Journal of Nursing* 9 (10), 626-630.

GERRISH K (2001) A pluralistic evaluation of nursing/practice development units. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 109-118.

GERRISH K, FERGERSON A, KITCHING N & MISCHENKO J (2000) Develop primary care nursing: the contribution of nursing development units. *Journal of Community Nursing* 14(6), 8-14.

GIBSON F & BAMFORD O (2001) Focus group interviews to examine the role and development of the clinical nurse specialist. *Journal of Nursing Management* 9, 331-342.

GLAZE J (2002) Stages in coming to terms with reflection: student advanced nurse practitioners perceptions of their reflective journeys. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 37 (3), 265-272.

GLEN S & WADDINGTON K (1998) Role transition from staff nurse to clinical nurse specialist: a case study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 283-290.

GLOD CA & MANCHESTER A (2000) Prescribing patterns of Advanced practice nurses: contrasting psychiatric mental health CNS and NP practice. *Clinical Excellence for Nurse Practitioners* 4 (1), 22-29.

GRAHAM I (1996) A presentation of a conceptual framework and its use in the definition of nursing development within the number of nursing development units. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 23, 260-266.

GRAHAM I (2003) Leading the development of nursing within a nursing development unit: the perspectives of leadership by the team leader and a professor of nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 9 (4), 213-222.

GREENWOOD J (2000a) Clinical development units (Nursing): Issues surrounding their establishment and survival. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 6, 338-344.

GREENWOOD J (2000b) Critique of the graduate nurse: an international perspective. *Nurse Education Today* 20, 17-23.

GREENWOOD J & GRAY G (1998) Developing a nursing research culture in the university and health sectors in Western Sydney, Australia. *Nurse Education Today* 18, 642-648.

GREENWOOD J & PARSONS M (2002a) The evaluation of a clinical development unit leadership preparation program by focus group interviews – Part 1: positive aspects. *Nurse Education Today* 22 (7), 527-533.

GREENWOOD J & PARSONS M (2002b) The evaluation of a clinical development unit leadership preparation program by focus group interviews – Part 2: negative aspects. *Nurse Education Today* 22 (7), 534-541.

GUEST D, REDFERN S, WILSON-BARNETT J, Dewe P, Peccei R, Rosenthal P, Evans A, Young C, Montgomery J, Oakley P (2001) *A preliminary evaluation of the establishment of nurse, midwife and health visitor consultants: a report to the Department of Health.* London: King's College London, University of London. Available from http://www.kcl.ac.uk//depsta/pse/mancen/research/no7paper.pdf

HAINES C (2002) The establishment of a nurse consultant role in paediatric intensive care: a reflective analysis. *Nursing in Critical Care* 7 (2), 73-83.

HAPPELL B & MARTIN T (2002) Changing the mental health nursing culture: the nursing clinical development unit approach. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 11, 54-60.

HAPPELL B & SHARROCK J (2002) Evaluating the role of a psychiatric consultation-liaison nurse in the Australian general hospital. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 23, 43-60.

HARGREAVES J & HEWISON A (2002) Lecturer practitioners in physiotherapy: what they do and why? *British Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation* 9 (3), 96-100.

HARPER DC & JOHNSON J (1998) The new generation of nurse practitioners: is more enough? *Health Affairs* 17 (5), 158-164.

HART C (2004) Nurses and Politics. The impact of power and practice. Palgrave Macmillan.

HERBAGE BUSCH AM (1995) CNS and expanded role in hospitals. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 9 (6), 318-321.

HICKS C & HENNESSY D (1998) A triangulation approach to the identification of acute sector nurses' training needs for formal nurse practitioner status. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 117-131.

HICKS C & HENNESSY D (1999) A task-based approach to defining the role of the nurse practitioner: the views of UK acute and primary sector nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 29 (3), 666-673.

HIND M, JACKSON D, ANDREWES C, FULBROOK P, GALVIN K, FROST S (1999) Exploring the expanded role of nurses in critical care. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing* 15, 147-153.

HOBBS R & MURRAY ET (1999) Specialist liaison nurses: evidence for their effectiveness is limited. *British Medical Journal* 318, 683-684.

HOLCOMB L (2000) A delphi study to identify activities of nurse practitioners in primary care. *Clinical Excellence for Nurse Practitioners* 4 (3), 163-172.

HOLMES CA (2002) Academics and practitioners: nurses as intellectuals. *Nursing Inquiry* 9 (2), 73-83.

HOOKE E, BENNETT L, DWYER R, VAN BEEK I, MARTIN C (2001) Nurse practitioner: an evaluation of the extended role of nurses at the Kirketon Road Centre in Sydney, Australia. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*18 (3), 20-28.

HORROCKS S, ANDERSON E, SALISBURY C (2002) Systematic review of whether nurse practitioners working in primary care can provide equivalent care to doctors. *British Medical Journal* 324, 819-823.

HRAVNAK M, ROSENZWEIG MQ, BALDISSERI M (1996) Current questions with regard to acute care nurse practitioner preparation and role implementation. *AACN Clinical Issues* 7 (2), 289-299.

HUNT JA (1999) A specialist nurse: an identified professional role or a personal agenda. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 30 (3), 704-712.

HUNTER P & MACAULEY D (1996) Nurse Practitioners – is this the next step for nursing? *Practice Nurse* 23 February, 174-176.

HÜRLIMANN B, HOFER S, HIRTER K (2001) The role of the clinical nurse specialist. *International Nursing Review* 48, 58-64.

IBBOTSON K (1999) The role of the clinical nurse specialist: a study. *Nursing Standard* 14 (9), 35-38.

IHCS (Institute of Health and Community Studies) (2002a) *Practice Development Unit Accreditation Framework*. Bournemouth: University of Bournemouth.

IHCS (2002b) Taming the Dinosaur: How to get your Practice Development Unit up and running. Bournemouth: University of Bournemouth.

INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE (2001) Crossing the quality chasm. A new health system for the 21st century. National Academy Press, Washington.

IRWIN R (1998) The work of clinical nurse specialists (HIV/AIDS) in areas with a low prevalence of HIV infection. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 649-656.

JACKSON KB (1999) The role of the lecturer/practitioner in midwifery. *British Journal of Midwifery* 7 (6), 363-366.

JACOBS S (1998) Advanced Nursing Practice in New Zealand: 1998. Nursing Praxis in New Zealand 13 (3), 4-12.

JAMIESON L & WILLIAMS LM (2002) Confusion prevails in defining advanced nursing practice. *Collegian* 9 (4), 29-33.

JOLLY K, BRADLEY F, SHARP S, SMITH H, THOMPSON S, KINMONTH A-L, MANT D for the SHIP Collaborative Group (1999) Randomised controlled trial of follow up care in general practice of patients with myocardial infarction and angina: results of the Southampton heart integrated care project (SHIP). *British Medical Journal* 318, 706-711.

JONES HM (1996) Introducing a lecturer-practitioner: the management perspective. *Journal of Nursing Management* 4, 337-345.

JONES S & DAVIES K (1999) The extended role of the nurse: the United Kingdom perspective. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 5, 184-188.

KAGAN S (1992) *Cooperative Learning*. Resources for Teachers, San Juan Capistrano, CA.

KEEN S (2002) Pulling shadows into sunshine: identifying specialist practice nursing practice as a part of PDU development. Bournemouth: IHCS, Bournemouth University.

KEENAN J (1999) A concept analysis of autonomy. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 29 (3), 556-562.

KENDALL L & LISSAUER R (2003) The future health worker. IPPR, London.

KETEFIAN S, REDMAN RW, HANCHARURURNKUL S, MASTERSON A & NEVES EP (2001) The development of advanced practice roles: implications in the international nursing community. *International Nursing Review* 48, 152-163.

KIRKBY J (2000) Assessed for success. Nursing Times 96 (28), 42.

KLEINPELL RM (1997) Acute care nurse practitioners: roles and practice profiles. *AACN Clinical Issues* 8 (1), 156-162.

LAKEMAN R (1999) Advanced nursing practice: experience, education and something else. *Nursing Praxis in New Zealand* 14 (2), 4-12.

LAKEMAN R (2000) Advanced nursing practice: experience, education and something else. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing* 7, 89-94.

LANARA VA (1996) Research and the discipline of nursing: a European perspective. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing* 12, 90-96.

LANCASTER J (undated) Evaluation Report: 'So you want to be a nurse/therapy consultant'.

LANCASTER J, LANCASTER W & ONEGA LL (2000) New directions in health-care reform: the role of nurse practitioners. *Journal of Business Research* 48, 207-212.

LANDERS MG (2000) The theory-practice gap in nursing: the role of the nurse teacher. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 32 (6), 1550-1556.

LATHLEAN J (1992) The contribution of lecturer practitioners to theory and practice in nursing. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 1 (5), 237-242.

LE-MON B (2000a) Consulting the nurse. *Nursing Management* 6 (10), 27-30.

LE-MON B (2000b) Nurse practitioners: the future. *Nursing Management* 7 (2), 17-20.

LINDEKE LL, CANEDY BH & KAY MM (1997) A comparison of practice domains of clinical nurse specialists and nurse practitioners. *Journal of Professional Nursing* 13 (5), 281-287.

LOFTUS LA & MCDOWELL J (2000) The lived experience of the oncology clinical nurse specialist. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 37, 513-521.

LORENSEN M, JONES DE & HAMILTON GA (1998) Advanced practice nursing in Nordic countries. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 257-264.

LORENTZON M & HOOKER JC (1996) Nurse practitioners, practice nurses and nurse specialists: what's in a name? *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 24, 649-651.

LOVEMAN E, ROYLE P & WAUGH N (2003) Specialist nurses in diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library* 3.

LYNCH MP, COPE DG & MURPHY-ENDE K (2001) Advanced practice issues: results of the ONS advanced practice nursing survey. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 28 (10), 1521-1530.

LYNN MM, ACHTMEYER C, CHAVEZ C, ZICAFOOSE B & THERIEN J (1999) The evolving role of advanced practice nursing within the new Veteran's Health Administration. *Health Care Management Review* 24 (4), 80-93.

MAAS ML & SPECHT JP (1994) Shared Governance in Nursing. What is shared, who shares and who benefits? In: McCloskey J & Grace HK (Eds), *Current Issues in Nursing*. Mosby Publications, Chapter 55.

MACLAINE K (1998) Clarifying higher-level roles in nursing practice. *Professional Nurse* 14 (3), 159-163.

MACLEOD CLARK J, MABEN J & JONES K (1997) Project 2000. Perceptions over philosophy and practice of nursing: preparation for practice. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 26, 246-256.

MALONE M (1999) Education and practice. The potential for lecturer practitioners in primary care. *British Journal of Community Nursing* 4 (4), 196-201.

MANLEY K (1997) A conceptual framework for Advanced practice: an action research project operationalising an advanced practitioner/consultant nurse role. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 6, 179-190.

MANLEY K (1999) Developing a culture of empowerment. *Nursing in Critical Care* 4 (2), 57-58.

MANLEY K (2000a) Organisational culture and consultant nurse outcomes: part 1 organisational culture. *Nursing Standard* 14 (36), 34-38.

MANLEY K (2000b) Organisational culture and consultant nurse outcomes: part 2 nurse outcomes. *Nursing Standard* 14 (37), 34-38.

MANLEY K (2002) Refining the consultant nurse framework: commentary on critique. *Nursing in Critical Care* 7 (2), 84-87.

MARTIN PD & HUTCHINSON SA (1999) Nurse practitioners and the problem of discounting. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 29 (1), 9-17.

MARTIN PJ (1999) An exploration of the services provided by the clinical nurse specialist in one NHS Trust. *Journal of Nursing Management* 7, 149-156.

MASLIN-PROTHERO S & MASTERSON A (2002) Power, politics, and nursing in the United Kingdom. *Policy, Politics, and Nursing Practice* 3 (2), 108-117.

MASON G & JINKS A (1994) Examining the role of the practitioner-teacher in nursing. *British Journal of Nursing* 3 (20), 1063-1072.

MCCABE S & GROVER S (1999) Psychiatric nurse practitioner vs clinical nurse specialist: moving from debate to action on the future of advanced psychiatric nursing. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing* 8 (3), 111-116.

MCCAFFREY BOYLE D (1997) Lessons learned from clinical nurse specialist longevity. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 26, 1168-1174.

MCCLOSKY J & GRACE HK (Eds) (1994) Current Issues in Nursing (4th ed.) St Louis: Mosby.

MCCREADDIE M (2001) The role of the clinical nurse specialist. *Nursing Standard* 16 (10), 33-38.

MCFADDEN & MILLER MA (1994) Clinical nurse specialist practice: facilitators and barriers. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 8 (1), 28-33.

MCGEE P (1996) The research role of the advanced nurse practitioner. *British Journal of Nursing* 5 (5), 290-292. MCGEE P (1997) Development of specialist and advanced practice in North America. *British Journal of Nursing* 6 (5), 272-274.

MCGEE P (1998) An evaluation of the lecturer practitioner role in the independent health care sector. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 251-256.

MCGEE P & CASTLEDINE G (2000) Advanced nursing practice in the United Kingdom. *The Nurse Practitioner* 25 (3), 79-80.

MCGEE P, CASTLEDINE G & BROWN R (1996) A survey of specialist and advanced nursing practice in England. *British Journal of Nursing* 5 (11), 682-686.

MCNICHOL E (2000) How to be a model leader. *Nursing Standard* 14 (45), 24.

MCSHARRY M (1995) The evolving role of the clinical nurse specialist. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (11), 641-646.

MEZEY MD & MCGIVERN DO (Eds) (1993) Nurses, nurse practitioners: evolution to advanced practice. New York: Springer.

MICK DJ & ACKERMAN MH (2000) Advanced practice nursing role delineation in acute and critical care: application of the Strong Model of Advanced Practice. *Hearts & Lung* 29 (3), 210-221.

MILLER S (1995) The clinical nurse specialist: a way forward? *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 22, 494-501.

MILLS C (1996) The consultant nurse: a model for advanced practice. *Nursing Times* 92 (33), 36-37.

MINER DC (1995) Self-in-Relation Theory and the role of the CNS. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 9 (5), 280-283.

MISCHENKO J (2002) Theoretical underpinnings of empowerment: A framework for self-managed teams. *Community Practitioner* 75 (6), 218-222.

MITTMAN D, CAWLEY JF & FENN WH (2002) Physician assistants in the United States. *British Medical Journal* 325, 485-487.

MOORE S, CORNER J, HAVILAND J, WELLS M, SALMON E, NORMAND C, BRADA M, O'BRIEN M & SMITH I (2002) Nurse led follow-up and conventional medical follow-up in management of patients with lung cancer: randomised trial. *British Medical Journal* 325, 1145-1152.

MURPHY FA (2000) Collaborating with practitioners in teaching and research: a model for developing the role of the nurse lecturer in practice areas. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 31 (3), 704-714.

MURPHY-ENDE K (2002) Advanced practice nursing: reflections on the past, issues for the future. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 29 (1), 106-112.

NBCCSBNPT (National Breast Cancer Centre's Specialist Breast Nurse Project Team) (2003) An evidence-based specialist breast nurse role in practice: a multicentre implementation study. *European Journal of Cancer Care* 12 (1), 91-97.

NEAGLE MA & KRAINOVICH-MILLER B (2001) Shaping the advanced practice psychiatric mental health nursing role: a futuristic model. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 22, 461-482.

NEUBAUER J (1995) The learning network. Leadership development for the next millennium. *Journal of Nursing Administration* 25 (2), 23-32.

NMC (Nursing and Midwifery Council) (2003) NMC confirms details of new three-part register. Available from http://www.nmc-uk.org/nmc/main/pressStatements (7 March 2003).

NORTON C (2002) Specialist nurses in gastroenterology. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 95, 331-335.

NOTTER J (1995) Marketing specialist practice to managers and purchasers. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (22), 1330-1334.

NRU (Nursing Research Unit) (1998) A survey of specialist and advanced nursing practice in the United Kingdom. Birmingham: University of Central England.

OFFREDY M (1998) The application of decision making concepts by nurse practitioners in general practice. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 28 (5), 988-1000.

OFFREDY M (1999) The nurse practitioner role in New South Wales: development and policy. *Nursing Standard* 13 (43), 38-41.

OFFREDY M (2000) Advanced nursing practice: the case as nurse practitioners in three Australian states. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 31 (2), 274-281.

OFFREDY M & TOWNSEND J (2000) Nurse practitioners in primary care. *Family Practice* 17 (6), 564-569.

O'HANLON M & GIBBON S (1996) Advanced practice. *Nursing Management* 2 (10), 12-13.

O'MALLEY J, CUMMINGS S & SLAGLE KING C (1996) The politics of advanced practice. *Nursing Administration Quarterly* 20 (3), 62-72.

ORMONDE-WALSHE SE & BURKE K (2001) The role of the infection-control nurse as a clinical nurse specialist or advanced nurse practitioner. *Journal of Nursing Management* 9, 209-212.

ORMONDE-WALSHE SE & NEWHAM RA (2001) Comparing and contrasting the clinical nurse specialist and the advanced nurse practitioner roles. *Journal of Nursing Management* 9, 205-207.

PAGE S (2002) The role of practice development in modernising the NHS. *Nursing Times* 98 (11), 34-36.

PAGE S, ALLSOPP D & CASLEY S (1998) (eds) *The Practice Development Unit. An experiment in multidisciplinary innovation.* London: Whurr.

PAYNE JL & BAUMGARTNER RG (1996) CNS role evolution. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 10 (1), 46-48.

PEARSON A & PEELS S (2002a) Clinical nurse specialists. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 8 (6), S11-14.

PEARSON A & PEELS S (2002b) The nurse practitioner. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 8 (4), S5-10.

PELLETIER D, DUFFIELD C, ADAMS A, MITTEN-LEWIS S, NAGY S & CRISP J (1997) The cardiac nurse's role: an Australian Adelphi study perspective. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 11 (6), 255-263.

PICKERSGILL F (1995) A natural extension. *Nursing Times* 91 (30), 24-27.

PINELLI JM (1997) The clinical nurse specialist/nurse practitioner: oxymoron or match made in heaven? *Canadian Journal of Nurse Administration* 10 (1), 85-110.

PORTER O'GRADY T (1994) Whole systems shared governance: creating the seamless organisation. *Nursing Economics* 12 (4), 187-195.

PRICE A & CLARK J (2002) A quantitative study of the management of acute urinary symptoms by nurse practitioners and general practitioners. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 3, 194-204.

PULLEN F (1995) Advocacy: a specialist practitioner role. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (5), 275-278.

RAFAEL ARF (1996) Power and caring: A dialectic in nursing. *Advanced Nursing Science* 19 (1), 3-17.

RAJA-JONES H (2002) Role boundaries – research nurse or clinical nurse specialist. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 11 (4), 415-420.

RASCH RFR & FRAUMAN AC (1996) Advanced practice in nursing: conceptual issues. *Journal of Professional Nursing* 12 (3), 141-146.

REDEKOPP MA (1997) Clinical nurse specialists role confusion: the need for identity. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 11 (2), 87-90.

REDFERN S & STEVENS W (1998) Nursing development units: their structure and orientation. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 218-226.

REVELEY S (1998) The role of the triage nurse practitioner in general medical practice: an analysis of the role. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 28 (3), 584-591.

REVELEY S (2001) Perceptions of the effects of professional role boundaries when introducing the nurse practitioner into general practice. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 2, 88-97.

REVELEY S & WALSH M (2000) Preparation for advanced nursing roles. *Nursing Standard* 14 (31), 42-45. RHEAD M & STRANGE F (1996) Nursing lecturer/practitioners: can lecturer/practitioners be music to our ears. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 24, 1265-1272.

RICHIE J & SPENCER L (1994) Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In: A.Bryman & R.G.Burgess (Eds) *Analysing Qualitative Data*. London: Routledge.

RILEY JM, BEAL J, LEVI P & MCCAUSLAND MP (2002) Revisioning nursing scholarship. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 34 (4), 383-389.

RILEY R & PETERS G (2000) The current scope and future direction of perioperative nursing practice in Victoria, Australia. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 32 (3), 544-553.

ROBB E (2001) Clinical nurse specialists: towards a definition. *Nursing Times* 97 (9), 39-40.

ROBERTS SJ (2000) Development of a positive professional identity: liberating oneself from the oppressor within. *Advances in Nursing Science* 22 (4), 71-82.

ROBERTS-DAVIS M & Read S (2001) Clinical role clarification: using the Delphi method to establish similarities and differences between Nurse Practitioners and Clinical Nurse Specialists. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 33-43.

ROLFE G & FULBROOK P (Eds) (1998) Advanced nursing practice. London: Butterworth-Heinemann.

ROLFE G & PHILLIPS L-M (1997) The development and evaluation of the role of advanced nurse practitioner in dementia – an action research project. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 34 (2), 119-127.

ROSEN R & MOUNTFORD L (2002) Developing and supporting extended Nursing roles: the challenges of NHS walk-in centres. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 39 (3), 241-248.

ROSS J (1999) The development of the advanced role of rural nurses in New Zealand. *Australian Journal of Rural Health* 7, 253-257.

ROYAL COLLEGE OF NURSING (RCN) (2002) Nurse Practitioners - an RCN guide to the nurse practitioner role, competencies and programme accreditation (publication code 001797). London: RCN.

RUSHFORTH H & GLASPER EA (1999) Implications of nursing role expansion for professional practice. *British Journal of Nursing* 8 (22), 1507-1513.

RYAN S (1996) Defining the role of the specialist nurses. *Nursing Standard* 10 (17), 27-29.

RYAN S (2001) Consultants nurses: pioneers of a new world. *Nursing Times Research* 6 (3), 645-647.

RYCROFT-MALONE J, HARVEY G, KITSON A, MCCORMACK B & TITCHEN A (2002) Getting evidence into practice: ingredients for change. *Nursing Standard* 16 (37), 38-43.

SALUSSOLIA M (1997) Is advanced nursing practice the post or a person? *British Journal of Nursing* 6 (16), 928-933.

SALVONI M (2001) Joint appointments: another dimension to building bridges. *Nurse Education Today* 21 (1), 65-70.

SCHROEDER CA, TREHEARNE B & WARD D (2000) Expanded role of nursing in ambulatory managed-care. Part 1: Literature, role development, and justification. *Nursing Economics* 18 (1), 14-19.

SCOTT LD & BEARE PG (1993) Nurse consultant and professional liability. *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 7 (6), 331-334.

SECHRIST KR & BERLIN LE (1998) Role of the clinical nurse specialist: an integrative review of the literature. *AACN Clinical Issues* 9 (2), 306-324.

SENGE P (1994) The fifth discipline. The art and practices of the learning organisation. Doubleday Publications.

SHARROCK J & HAPPELL B (2001) An overview of the role and functions of a psychiatric consultation liaison nurse: an Australian perspective. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing* 8, 411-417.

SMITH JP (1997) Conference Report: Clinical Nurse Specialism Conference on the theme 'The route to improving practice'. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 867-870.

SMITH SMS (1996) Independent nurse practitioner: advanced nursing practice in Brisbane, Australia. *Nursing Clinics of North America* 31 (3), 549-565.

SNOW JL (2001) Looking beyond nursing for clues to effective leadership. *Journal of Nursing Administration* 31 (9), 440-443.

SOUKUP M (2000) The centre for advanced nursing practice evidence-based practice model: promoting the scholarship of practice. *Nursing Clinics of North America* 35 (2), 301-308.

SPARACINO P (1986) The clinical nurse specialist. *Nursing Practice* 1, 215-228.

STARK R, NAIR NVK & OMI S (1999) Nurse practitioners in developing countries: some ethical considerations. *Nursing Ethics* 6 (4), 273-277.

STEWART PM (2003) Improving clinical research (editorial). *British Medical Journal* 327, 999-1000.

STORR G (1988) The clinical nurse specialist: from the outside looking in. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 13, 265-272.

STRANAHAN S (2001) Spiritual perception, attitudes about spiritual care, and spiritual care practices among nurse practitioners. *Western Journal of Nursing Research* 23 (1), 90-105.

SUTTON F & SMITH C (1995) Advanced nursing practice: new ideas and new perspectives. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 21, 1037-1043.

TIJHUIS GJ, Zwinderman AH, Hazes JMW, Breedveld FC & Vlieland PMTV (2003) Two-year follow-up of a randomised controlled trial of a clinical nurse specialist intervention, inpatient and day patient team care in rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 41 (1), 34-43.

TOLLEY K (1994) Extending nurses' professional roles. *Nursing Standard* 9 (3), 25-28.

TORN A & MCNICHOL E (1998) A qualitative study utilizing a focus group to explore the role and concept of the nurse practitioner. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 27, 1202-1211.

TRNOBRANSKI PH (1994) Nurse practitioner: redefining the role of the community nurse? *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 19, 134-139.

TURNER-SHAW J & BOSANQUET N (1993) Nursing Development Units. A way to develop nurses and nursing. London: King's Fund.

TYRRELL MP & LEAHY-WARREN P (2000) Joint appointments in nurse education. *Nursing-Review (Ireland)* 17 (4), 107-111.

UKCC (United Kingdom Central Council for Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting) (2002) Report of the higher level of practice pilot and project. London: UKCC. Available from http://www.nmc-uk.org/cms/content/publications/

VENNING P, DURIE A, ROLAND M, ROBERTS C & LEESE B (2000) Randomised controlled trial comparing cost effectiveness of general practitioners and nurse practitioners in primary care. *British Medical Journal* 320, 1048-1053.

VITELLO-CICCIU JM (2002) Exploring emotional intelligence: Implications for nursing leaders. *Journal of Nursing Administration* 32 (4), 203-210.

WALSH M (1999a) Nurses and nurse practitioners, part 1: priorities in care. *Nursing Standard* 13 (24), 38-42.

WALSH M (1999b) Nurses and nurse practitioners, part 2: perspectives on care. *Nursing Standard* 13 (25), 36-40.

WALSH M (2000a) A nurse practitioner-led farmers health service: setting up and evaluating a UK project. *Australian Journal of Rural Health* 8, 214-217.

WALSH M (2000b) The emerging role of the nurse practitioner in accident and emergency. *Emergency Nurse* 7 (10), 20-24.

WALSH M & WALSH A (1998) Practice development units: a study of teamwork. *Nursing Standard* 12 (33), 35-38.

WATSON J (1995) Advanced nursing practice...and what might be. *N&HC: Perspectives on Community* 16 (2), 78-83.

WATSON P, HENDEY N, DINGWALL R, SPENCER E & WILSON P (1996) The Mid-level Practitioner: A review of the literature on Nurse Practitioner and Physician Assistant programmes (discussion paper no.96/02). Sheffield: Trent Institute for Health Services Research.

WEBB C (1992) What is nursing? *British Journal of Nursing* 1 (11), 567-568.

WICKHAM S (2003) Development of nurse specialists/advanced practitioners in Ireland. *British Journal of Nursing* 12 (1), 28-33.

WILES R, POSTLE K, STEINER A & WALSH B (2001) Nurse-led intermediate care: an opportunity to develop enhanced roles full nurses? *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 34 (6), 813-821.

WILKIN K (2002) Exploring expert practice through reflection. *Nursing in Critical Care* 7 (2), 88-93.

WILLIAMS A (1993) Steps to develop a working relationship: an evaluation of the community-based clinical nurse specialist. *Professional Nurse* 8 (12), 806-812.

WILLIAMS A, MCGEE P & BATES L (2001) An examination of senior nursing roles: challenges for the NHS. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 10, 195-203.

WILLIAMS CA, PESUT DJ, BOYD M, RUSSELL SS, MORROW J & HEAD K (1998) Towards an integration of competencies for advanced practice mental health nursing. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association* 4 (2), 48-56.

WILLIAMSON G & PROSSER S (2002) Illustrating the ethical dimensions of action research. *Nurse-Researcher* 10 (2), 38-49.

WILLIAMSON T & HARRIS K (2000) A new role in practice development. *Nursing Standard* 14 (35), 54-57.

WILSON A, PEARSON D & HASSEY A (2002) Barriers to developing the nurse practitioner role in primary care – the GP perspective. *Family Practice* 19 (6), 641-646.

WILSON-BARNETT J, BARRIBALL KL, REYNOLDS H, JOWETT S & RYRIE I (2000) Recognising advancing nursing practice: evidence from two observational studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 389-400.

WILSON-BARNETT J & BEECH S (1994) Evaluating the clinical nurse specialist. *International Journal of Nursing* Studies 31 (6), 561-571.

WINSON G & FOX J (1995) Nurse practitioners: the American experience. *British Journal of Nursing* 4 (22), 1326-1329.

WOOD CM, CALDWELL MA, CUSACK MK, CLAAR-RICE U & DIBBLE SL (1996) Clinical nurse specialists in California: who claims the title? *Clinical Nurse Specialist* 10 (6), 283-291.

WOODROW P (1994a) Role of the lecturer practitioner part 1. *British Journal of Nursing* 3 (11), 571-575.

WOODROW P (1994b) Role of the lecturer practitioner part 2. *British Journal of Nursing* 3 (12), 611-614.

WOODS LP (1997) Conceptualising advanced nursing practice: curriculum issues to consider in the educational preparation of advanced practice nurses in the UK. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 25, 820-828.

WOODS LP (1998) Implementing advanced practice: identifying the factors that facilitate and inhibit the process. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 7, 265-273.

WOODS LP (1999) The contingent nature of advanced nursing practice. Journal of Advanced Nursing 30 (1), 121-128.

WOODS LP (2000) The enigma of advanced practice. Salisbury: Mark Allen.

WRIGHT SM (2001) Contribution of a lecturer practitioner in implementing evidence-based health-care. *Accident & Emergency Nursing* 9, 198-203.

WRIGHT S, JOHNSON M & PURDY E (1991) The nurse as consultant. *Nursing Standard* 5 (20), 31-34.

Appendix 1

Focus Group Guide for CNS/PDU Project

The design of the focus group guide is linked to the seven standards of higher level practice (UKCC, 2002) and initial discussions between the PDU and Bournemouth University. The guide does not explicitly cover relationships with educational or national governing institutions. Emphasis is placed on 'main' responsibilities, yet these may not be the most important or crucial to role success.

- What do you currently consider are the main aspects of your role?
- What do you think are your main responsibilities towards the Trust?

As appropriate:

How will you achieve these? Who are your allies? What are the barriers?

What do you think are your main responsibilities towards patients?
 As appropriate:

How will you achieve these?
Who are your allies?
What are the barriers?

What do you think are your main responsibilities to each other?
 As appropriate:

How will you achieve these? Who are your allies? What are the barriers?

 What are your main responsibilities towards the team (nurses/medics/others)?

As appropriate:

How will you achieve these? Who are your allies? What are the barriers?

Appendix 2

Findings from the first four focus groups

Advanced practice nurse (APN) drivers	Key themes from literature	Differences and commonalities between APNs	PDU issues	More general challenges
Modernisation	Medical/nursing	Motivation for	Organisational/	Demonstrate
agenda	overlap –	increased	senior manage-	(cost)
	alternative	numbers	ment support	effectiveness
Advanced	medical role		(relationship,	
technology		Reduced over	resource, time and	Advance theory
	Lack of regulation	time	legitimisation)	and research
Need for				activity
specialisation	Advanced practice	Prescribing	Woods (2000)	
	nurse role	activities	experienced to	Continual quality
UKCC/NMC	confusion - lack of		advanced stages	improvement work
reports e.g. HLP	definition – leads	Education	of idealism,	
	to Trusts taking		organisational	Partnerships
RCN work	responsibility for	Perception of	governance and	
	new roles and	others	resolution	Increased
Modern doctors	operational			presence in health
(hours etc)	definitions	Conceptions of	Uni- or multi-	community
		role elements	disciplinary?	
Needs of patients	Education or	such as		What nursing
	experience?	leadership	Demonstrating	skills are brought
	Preparation and		client	to extended
	little systematic succession	Differentiation?	outcome/impact	tasks?
	planning	Nursing skills	Key alliances	Overcoming
				barriers from
	Autonomy and	Patient care	Pulling together	professional
	accountability			colleagues
		Research	Succession	
	Other countries		planning	
		Transformational		
		leadership		